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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Review of the year 2020
During the last year we have continued to make progress in strengthening and growing the business and I am pleased to report a
good financial performance in line with expectations for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Financial highlights







Group turnover
Operating profit (before exceptional items)
Net profit for the year
Net bank borrowings
Capital investment across all our sites
Total group capital and reserves

£282.8m
£7.5m
£4.5m
£33.1m
£5.3m
£39.8m

(2019: £272.3m)
(2019: £7.2m)
(2019: £2.7m)
(2019: £41.1m)
(2019: £4.4m)
(2019: £31.8m)

Chairman’s statement
Chris Thomas
Introduction
It is now nearly two years since I joined the First Milk Board as non-executive Chairman and I’m pleased to report that in the year
ending 31 March 2020 the business has continued to perform in line with expectations. We have continued to invest in the
business to improve productivity and capacity whilst deepening our existing customer partnerships and developing new ones.
Governance
First Milk’s rules require that all directors retire by rotation. Our Board remained stable throughout the year, with the AGM seeing
the reappointment of Shelagh Hancock and Greg Jardine as CEO and CFO respectively, as well as Robert Craig as farmer director
and Brian Mackie as non-executive director. We also saw a rule change approved which corrected an anomaly that stated that no
director may serve more than three terms, which applied to both executive and non-executive directors. The rule change limited
this to non-executive directors only, because executive directors’ board positions run in tandem with their contracts of employment.
Post year-end, at the 2020 Annual General Meeting, our longstanding farmer director and vice-chairman, Jim Baird, will retire from
the Board. Jim’s contribution to the success of First Milk has been considerable and he will be greatly missed on the Board. I
would like to extend considerable gratitude to Jim for his support and wise counsel, and I wish him all the very best for the future.
A further rule change related to the term for the Member Council. Our previous rules allowed a maximum time in office of four
years for Council members, however, this was felt to carry risk as we could see a high number of experienced Council members
leave the Council in a short period with a lack of suitably experienced candidates to replace them. This rule was amended to allow
Council members to serve a maximum of three terms of two years, rather than just two terms.
During the period, we also held contested Member Council elections. This saw three Council positions becoming vacant by rotation
– Scott Calderwood, David Walker and Willie Purdie. Willie Purdie retired from Council at these elections and I would like to take
this opportunity to extend the Board’s thanks to Willie for his considerable contribution and to wish him well. Following an election
process overseen independently by the Civica (formerly Electoral Reform Services), the result was that Scott and David were reelected for a further term, being joined by new Council member, Louise Davies. Louise brings a wealth of relevant experience and
also progressed through our Next Generation programme, where she has impressed.
Over the last year, the Member Council has continued the successful ‘farmhouse meetings’ with members across our milk fields.
These provide a great opportunity for members to catch up on developments with their co-operative and feedback views, which
Council then do a great job of representing back to the Board and Executive. This contribution is truly valued, and I look forward to
continuing to work together with your Council representatives to deliver our vision of dairy prosperity.
Outlook
We are well-used to operating in a volatile global marketplace, but no-one could have foreseen the COVID-19 crisis which struck
right at the end of our financial year. This type of circumstance will inevitably create a short-term shock to the markets and impact
on the returns of all involved. But the fundamentals of dairy continue to look positive. We know that dairy is in the spotlight for its
environmental and animal welfare impact, but that is why we responded last year by introducing our First4Milk programme, which
we’ve further strengthened in recent months with the launch of the First4Milk Pledge. As a co-operative owned entirely by British
dairy farmers, it is in our long-term interests to work together to protect and promote the dairy industry in this way.
On a broader scale, dairy demand globally continues to grow. First Milk has a strong foundation and a clear plan for the future.
There is much to do but many opportunities ahead and we are well-placed to leverage those opportunities as we work together to
deliver dairy prosperity for the long-term.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank our members, colleagues and the Board for their commitment and drive during the last
year.
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CEO statement
Shelagh Hancock
‘’A year of progress, delivering growth, investment and improved member returns.’’
2019 was a year dominated by politics and Brexit, leading to a lack of clarity and uncertainty throughout the period. As the year
progressed, whilst clarity improved on Brexit, we ended the financial year in even greater turmoil, this time of a global nature, as the
COVID-19 pandemic emerged.
With regard to the dairy markets, after a relatively long ‘bull run’, the global dairy market prices weakened during 2019, especially
on butter and cream, ultimately negatively impacting on milk prices. Whilst it was unfortunate that we reduced our milk price by a
total of 1.25ppl across the year it was pleasing to have been able to provide a degree of stability by reducing ‘less and later’ than
the wider market.
Given this context, I am delighted to report on the positive progress we made during the year ending March 31, 2020, delivering
further business growth and development, strengthening customer relationships, investing in the future and, importantly, adding
value for our farmer members.
WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP WITH OUR CUSTOMERS
As an outward-looking business we have always sought value in mutually-beneficial partnerships, providing prosperity for all
involved. By partnering with key businesses both in the UK and abroad we can ensure we deliver the best returns for our
members.
Today, more than ever, integrity in the supply chain and responsible sourcing are important for our customers and for consumers at
large. As a farmer owned British dairy co-operative we are well-placed to work with our members to deliver programmes that
translate consumer needs into practical and tangible initiatives on farm. In doing so, not only do we enable our customers to
alleviate consumer concerns with regard to the environment and animal welfare, but we are able to promote and celebrate the
fantastic work that is done every day by our members in helping to feed the nation.
During the year we worked with a number of customers on key initiatives in this area, as well as progressing our First4Milk
programme and developing our new First4Milk Pledge.
We have continued to strengthen and grow our long-term partnership with Ornua, the Irish agri-food commercial co-operative which
supplies more than 40% of the hard cheese sold in British retailers and is the largest buyer of British cheese in the UK. Ornua
continues to be successful in the marketplace, winning Own Label Dairy Supplier of the Year at The Grocer Gold Awards in 2019,
and the Sainsbury’s ‘Sourcing with Integrity’ award. We continue to grow our sales with them through our increasingly close and
collaborative partnership.
In addition to continuing to grow our UK cheese sales, we have significantly grown our overseas cheese business in conjunction
with our export partner, and now supply more than 26 countries. There is a global imbalance between availability and demand for
dairy products, with dairy consumption growing across Africa, Asia and the Middle East and local supply unable to meet demand.
As such, this provides a growth opportunity for First Milk in the future.
During the last twelve months we have also commenced a new strategic sales and distribution partnership with Havero Hoogwegt
for our whey protein production. This follows our purchase of Fonterra’s 51% share of our Fast Forward JV, to become the sole
owner of the whey protein concentrate manufacturing facilities based at Lake District Creamery. Havero Hoogwegt is a global
specialist in dairy proteins, supplying more than 50 countries. This market continues to grow, and we are confident that our
partnership with Havero Hoogwegt will enable us to maximise the market potential of WPC80 in the global market.
When it comes to providing milk sourcing solutions for our customers, our strategic partnership with Nestlé continues and we
remain Nestlé’s single largest UK supplier, with milk from dedicated farmers being used for Nestlé’s production of chocolate and the
Nescafé cappuccino ranges. Our work with Nestlé continues to focus around their sustainability and animal welfare objectives,
which we work on with the farmer supply groups. We were proud to win Nestlé Suppliers Best Value Award in their 2019 Supplier
Awards, in recognition of our agility and ability to secure long-term value.
Furthermore, our partnership with Yeo Valley is now well-established, and we manage a direct supply group in the South West for
conventional milk for their own-label manufacturing. We have also grown our supply with McQueens – a successful family liquid
milk and doorstep delivery business, who recognise the quality, service and traceability of milk we can provide, as well as the
alignment of values with their own.
DELIVERING MANUFACTURING EXCELLENCE
Working as one team, with a relentless focus on efficiency and quality, we continue to strive to deliver manufacturing excellence.
Our cheese has continued to be recognised for its quality, with 2019 being our most successful show season ever, with 71 awards
won across the year – a testament to our exceptional creamery staff and the quality milk supplied by our members. The standard
of our production sites has also been recognised, with BRC AA+ accreditation at both sites following unannounced audits in the
year.
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DELIVERING MANUFACTURING EXCELLENCE (continued)
Investing in the future
Over the year we have continued to invest at both our Haverfordwest and Lake District Creameries delivering investment plans to
increase capacity, enhance our processing efficiency and further improve our quality.
In the last twelve months we have completed a £6m investment project at our Haverfordwest Creamery, which has unlocked
additional capacity and improved operating efficiency. Investment in Haverfordwest will continue over the coming twelve months,
as we install a Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant at the site, to reduce our energy use, improving our environmental
performance.
When it comes to our Lake District Creamery, the second phase of a major capital programme was completed with the installation
of new duplex milk pasteurisers and raw milk CIP systems. In the year ahead we will embark on phase 3 of this programme, which
includes the installation of a rapid chill store and robotic palletiser. Site capacity continues to grow at both sites, allowing us to
meet the growing demand from our customers.
We completed a major IT infrastructure project in the period, which saw the upgrade of our enterprise software solutions as well as
the roll out of updated hardware and improvements in IT security. These developments will ensure that our IT systems are fit for
the future.
Post year-end we have also completed the acquisition of Lake District Biogas – a business operating an anaerobic digester
supplying gas to the national grid, located on a site at our Lake District Creamery. This was a completely separate business from
First Milk that purchased whey permeate from our Lake District Creamery and managed our effluent treatment facilities under
contractual arrangements. Lake District Biogas went into administration and we have been in active dialogue with the
administrators since then about the future of that business.
To ensure the ongoing treatment of our effluent, as well as securing the opportunity to leverage the obvious environmental benefits
of a large-scale Anaerobic Digestion plant at our creamery, we made an offer to the administrators for this business, and a
transaction was completed post-year end. This has seen First Milk acquire the shares of Lake District Biogas in administration,
with the administration ending in the months ahead as we take control of the business. To ensure the professional management of
the plant, we have partnered with Future Biogas – one of the largest producers of Biogas in the UK – who will operate the plant on
our behalf.
Scottish Creameries closed
Despite a very active sales process, by the summer of 2019 it became clear that a sale of our Arran Creamery was unlikely, and we
regrettably announced the closure of the site. Discussions about the future of Campbeltown Creamery continued but, ultimately,
we had to announce our intention to close that site in November. Nothing has changed in respect of our Kintyre farmers’ cooperative membership of First Milk, and going forward we will continue to collect and pay for their milk on the same basis as before.
The Campbeltown site was subsequently sold in a post-year end transaction. Whilst this was the end of an era for the Kintyre area,
we were pleased to have concluded the sale of our Campbeltown Creamery site to a local business that is committed to investing
to secure employment opportunities for the local area for the long-term.
SUPPORTING AND DELIVERING FOR OUR MEMBERS
During the last twelve months we have continued to focus on improving fairness and transparency for our members, who are at the
very heart of our business.
We have continued our regular Executive roadshow meetings albeit the spring round was postponed due to COVID-19, supported
by farmhouse meetings hosted by our Member Council representatives. We continue to develop our member newsletters and
technical updates and are committed to undertaking annual Farm Business Reviews with every member to allow in-depth
discussion and planning. We have also launched the First4Milk app, a unique development within the dairy sector, to improve
information flow and help us monitor and deliver certain aspects of our First4Milk commitments on farm.
Our member payment schedules continue to evolve following member feedback, and in the last year we’ve announced the further
harmonisation of milk payment schedules on to a single compositional payment schedule, which will be complete by April 2021, as
well as the removal of negative volume bonuses and the introduction of a flat rate charge, which can be reduced significantly when
members support initiatives around transport savings and responsible sourcing.
We have remained focused on strategic farmer recruitment and our membership is growing, with 175m litres recruited in the last
year and no resignations for more than 18 months. What’s more, we continue to see positive milk volume growth from our existing
members, demonstrating their confidence in the future.
We launched a new share-trading platform - Asset Match - in the period, which has seen more than 3m shares traded to date.
Our long-term strategic alliance with Anglia Farmers continues, giving our farmer members access to inputs at competitive prices,
while saving time and resources with support from Anglia Farmers’ specialist buyers.
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DELIVERING PROGRESS ON TOTAL MEMBER RETURNS
Critically, we have further strengthened our relative milk price during the period as a result of further improved business
performance. Progress is measured through our Milk Price Index (MPI) which tracks our milk price against our competitors. In
April 2020 we paid out our first year’s member premium payment of 0.25ppl for all litres consigned in the year to March 31, 2020 for
fully paid up members, and this will increase to 0.5ppl from April 2020, with payment due to members in April 2021.

BUILDING LONGER TERM RESILIENCE
Our vision for the future remains absolutely resolute – we are working together to deliver dairy prosperity. We are making good
progress on this journey but delivering long-term sustainable prosperity will take time. We need to go further, strengthening our
business to allow us to provide additional stability and security for the long term.
I am delighted to report that our relationship with our lender, Wells Fargo, is positive, and they remain very supportive of our
business. Indeed, post year-end we completed re-financing, which saw us agree extended lending facilities out to July 31, 2024,
demonstrating the financial stability of First Milk.
Looking beyond our own business, and the impact of COVID-19, we see that the marketplace continues to prove volatile. The
COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on everyday life across the globe and has already caused widespread
economic recession. At the present time, it is impossible to know how long the pandemic, and its associated restrictions, will
continue, nor can we determine the medium to long-term economic impact. Whilst it has faded into the background somewhat
since COVID-19 struck, Brexit also adds to this uncertainty, as we don’t know the final timetable or shape of our trading relationship
with the EU, or how that, or current circumstances might impact on negotiations with other countries. What is clear, however, is
that First Milk is well placed for the future, as a business that has strong collaborative partnerships and the scale to be relevant in
the marketplace, whilst remaining agile and adaptable, seeking out opportunities as change occurs.
I would like to recognise the critical role our staff has played in the development of the business and their hard work and
commitment to First Milk.
Finally, I’d like to take this opportunity to thank my Board colleagues, our Member Council, our Executive team and, above all, our
members for all their support in the last twelve months and look forward to continuing to work together to deliver our vision of dairy
prosperity.
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Sustainability report
All businesses have a responsibility to act sustainably and to play their part in protecting and enhancing the global environment we
all share, whilst looking after the welfare of animals in our care. In our case, as a co-operative business, we are also committed to
building social capital – with our members, our colleagues and our customers – so that we can achieve more together.
But these things aren’t only our moral obligation. Increasingly, as well as caring about food being safe, nutritious and affordable,
consumers also want to know that it is produced in a way that minimises the impact to people, animals and the environment. As
such, sustainability makes good business sense.
Last year we launched our First4Milk programme, which outlined a range of commitments that we set out to meet by 2025. As
outlined last year, we will report on progress and activity each year in the annual report.
Just before year end we also launched our First4Milk Pledge – a broader commitment to sustainable dairy. We are proud of the
leading standards on First Milk members’ farms and know members exceed many of the national targets and outcomes in these
areas. But with livestock-based food production continuing to be under the spotlight, we need to demonstrate we are proactively
addressing these areas of public concern in order to prosper long-term. This new initiative, which builds on the First4Milk
responsible sourcing programme, sees us asking members to commit to improvements including providing cows with access to
pasture for a minimum of 6 hours per day for 120 days during the grazing season; guaranteeing that no healthy animal, including
calves, will be euthanised on farm; sharing antibiotic use data; enhancing biodiversity and soil health on farm and helping to
promote a positive image of dairy.
We will report on this further in future years, but our progress on wider sustainability activity during the last year is outlined below.
Broadly, this activity falls under three key themes…
PEOPLE – building social capital
We have a range of initiatives underway that address our commitments around people.
Our successful Next Generation programme continues to gather momentum. Our target for 2025 is to have 20% of member
businesses involved in some way by that point. During the last year, around 120 young people have got involved in the Next
Generation programme, so we are well on target for member involvement. Our Next Generation programme has seen participants
go on farm visits to find out more about spring and autumn block calving. In addition, we ran a series of workshops on the use of
social media to build positive farm reputation and undertook trips to Ornua and the First Milk AGM, where the Next Generation
group had a Q&A with the Member Council. Further trips were planned for the end of the financial year but were put on hold due to
the COVID-19 restrictions. We also sponsored places for young farmers to undertake the RABDF dairy entrepreneurship scheme.
In addition, we are also working together with Nestlé UK on specific Next Generation activity for Nestlé supplying farms, which has
seen 28 young people progress their dairy careers through combined next generation activity, whilst we are also working together
to encourage greater diversity through the ‘Women in Agriculture’ initiative, which has attracted 25 participants for 2020. Making
best use of new technology will be the focus for a new group of 29 farmers who have signed up for the digital innovation
programme, and 36 farms will take part in the ‘milk from forage’ initiative focused on reducing reliance on purchased feeds,
especially those associated with deforestation.
When it comes to colleagues, we have invested in Leadership training for 32 managers, who undertook a leadership development
programme, which can culminate in a qualification. This programme comprised 8 modules and was focused on increasing
leadership activity, problem solving and cross-functional collaboration. In addition, we supported an individual to undertake a threeyear engineering Food & Drink apprenticeship, working at Haverfordwest Creamery.
We are also increasing our focus on learning and development across the business to improve performance and embed our values.
Our colleagues at Haverfordwest also developed Project Make-a-Difference, to encourage all staff at the site to embrace our
sustainability goals and to foster teamwork. This saw colleagues making simple changes such as eliminating the use of single use
plastic water cups, and using recycled paper. This initiative was run by the Safety, Health and Environment committee at the site,
who were recognised by the local Council as ‘eco champions’ for their work in this area. The group also organised a beach clean
for site staff at the local Freshwater East beach, making a positive difference to the local community.
Of course, we also have an obligation to keep the workplace safe for all colleagues. The most common cause of accidents was
contact with chemicals followed by slips, trips and falls. Key investments which took place included improving the traffic flow in the
milk intake area of Haverfordwest in May 2019 and replacing the milk intake CIP system at LDC in December 2019, both of which
were identified as safety risks. Significant work was progressed through active SHE Committees at both sites with a high focus on
hazard spotting and elimination. In addition, chemical and behavioural safety training took place at both sites to continue to embed
the positive culture of accident elimination. Significant focus was also placed on the reduction of vehicle accidents on both sites
and, whilst statistics remain flat year on year, most of the incidents in FY20 took place in the first quarter. This work included
improving signage, communications with hauliers and the effective use of CCTV systems.
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One of our commitments is focused on First Milk being a good neighbour and raising funds for charity. During the last financial
year, we nominated the Alzheimer’s Society and Alzheimer’s Scotland to be our charities of the year. We launched a specific
fundraising event – the First Milk Mountain Challenge – which saw nearly 50 First Milk staff, members, family and friends climbing
Ben Nevis, Scafell Pike and Snowdon simultaneously in three groups. In addition, the team at head office installed a static bike
into the office, cycling the equivalent distance of Ben Nevis to Snowdon. These activities alone raised just over £10,000 and were
the catalyst for two further fundraising events, raising a further £500.
Finally, we have committed to promoting the dairy industry more widely, including encouraging our members to participate in events
like Open Farm Sunday. Once again, we directly supported the Dairy UK investment in promotional activity, with the continuation
of The Department of Dairy Related Scrumptious Affairs campaign. The campaign, which saw the spoof organisation creating and
sharing ‘dairy moments’ to remind 20-35-year-old parents how dairy makes life better, aired between March and May 2019. It was
seen on TV-ondemand, in cinemas, on digital billboards and by 23.8 million people on social media. The campaign originally
started in 2017 and the results of this latest wave of activity showed the number of people who have cut down or plan to cut down
dairy from their diet has decreased from 39% to 31%. In addition, 11% more young parents reported they were certain to buy dairy
products. Our Nestlé supply group has also hosted more than 100 school visits to farms during the year, helping to educate
children about where food comes from.
ANIMALS – a life worth living
Cows are at the beginning of our supply chain and their health and wellbeing is key to our success. Healthy cows live longer and
require fewer resources to produce milk. We believe our cows deserve a life worth living, and our progress in this area in the last
year includes:
Animal health and welfare
Within the First4Milk Pledge we have implemented a requirement for all members to have animal health and welfare plans, which
are updated at least annually with their veterinary surgeon. There is 100% adherence to this requirement across our membership,
as it is part of Red Tractor farm assurance standards.
In addition, last year, we committed to launching an automated health and welfare index by the end of 2020. Working with
Kingshay, we have developed an app, which 54% of our members are now using. As well as providing access to information about
milk collections, milk quality and general business updates, the app, and associated systems, allow the integration of automatic
data collection from a variety of sources including milk recording providers, BCMS, farm assurance certification bodies, etc. This
means that we now have automated data flows on welfare outcome measures. Moving forward, members will use the app to
confirm adherence to our nil euthanasia and access to pasture requirements within the First4Milk Pledge, by uploading photos and
supporting data.
Last year we committed that 100% of members would have Johne’s Disease control plans in place by the end of 2020. At the end
of FY20, 83% of our members’ farms are following the official Johne’s Management Action Plan, and we are working closely with
the remainder to ensure that this target is achieved by the end of the calendar year.
Farm Business Reviews
We have committed to undertaking annual Farm Business Reviews in person on each member’s farms to review sustainability
performance, as well as general matters relating to their membership. 86% of members had a Farm Business Review last year
before COVID-19 restrictions prevented further farm visits. Those farms not visited will be prioritised when restrictions are lifted.
Antibiotic stewardship
Responsible antibiotic use is critical in livestock agriculture to ensure that we play our part in reducing the risk of widespread
antibiotic resistance. We have committed to working with our members to achieve average antibiotic use below the RUMA targets
for dairy by the end of 2020. Antibiotic use is discussed during Farm Business Reviews, but post year-end we have made a
significant development that will help monitor and report on antibiotic stewardship across our membership in the future.
In April 2020, we launched a nationwide antibiotic stewardship scheme, with the support of Morrisons (through our customer,
Ornua) via its “Cheese for Farmers” initiative. In the first month over 40% of our members signed up to the scheme, which sees
members and their vets share data on antimicrobial purchases with First Milk. Participating members then receive a report to
enable them to benchmark their antibiotic use against other First Milk members and against national averages. Whilst this is a new
initiative, early analysis has shown that participating First Milk members are 23% below RUMA 2020 targets for total AB use and
90% below target for Critically Important Antibiotics.
In addition, our farmers supplying the Tesco Cheese Group have been found to consistently outperform their counterparts on the
animal health and welfare metrics, demonstrating the high standard of farm management and care for animals on farm. More than
90% of these farms attended workshops on mastitis and somatic cell count management during the year, and we also saw
excellent attendance at calving and calf rearing workshops, which were conducted with Liverpool vets.
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EARTH – protecting the planet
We only have one planet, and we all share the responsibility for protecting and enhancing the environment we live and work in,
whilst reducing the use of natural resources.
Reducing energy and water use, minimising CO2e emissions
We have committed to targeting an annual 3% relative reduction in energy and water use at our processing sites, which combines
into a 65% relative reduction in CO2e, a 40% relative reduction in energy and a 30% relative reduction in water use by 2025
against 2008 baseline.
Our performance in the last financial year against these targets at our sites at Haverfordwest and the Lake District Creamery is
summarised below:
FY20 Results*

FY20 Performance

FY20 v 2008 Base Year
Comparison
Actual E/O
Target 2025
FY20

Target
Reduction

Actual
Reduction

kWhr per kg milk

3%

12%

40%

32%

On track

CO2e

kgCO2e per kg Milk

3%

11%

65%

56%

On track

Food waste

kg COD per kg Milk

3%

11%

40%

34%

On track

Water Use

m per kg Milk

3%

0%

30%

-13%

See below

Waste to Landfill

% of cheese production

-

-

0

0.15%

See below

Metric

UOM

Energy Efficiency

3

Comment

As you can see, the reduction in energy use and CO 2e emissions is significantly ahead of target. This was assisted by increased
utilisation of the sites as well as capital expenditure projects at both sites that have seen heat recovery deliver increased efficiency
of pasteurisation.
We have also achieved a good progressive reduction in waste to effluent during the year, following a clear focus on the reduction of
losses at Haverfordwest and the implementation of wastage reduction training at Lake District Creamery.
We have not made sufficient progress on water use, with this remaining static during the year, resulting in us being someway
behind our 2025 commitment at the current time. We will continue to focus on reducing water use going forward and will continue
to report on progress in future years.
We also have committed to eliminating direct waste to landfill by 2025. At the present time around 0.15% of cheese production
equivalent goes to landfill and we will continue to work to reduce this over the coming five years.
Protecting watercourses
We have committed to protecting watercourses by offsetting factory nitrate, phosphate and sediment production by 2022. We have
an existing nutrient offset programme operating at our Haverfordwest Creamery, which sees 33 local farms participating in a
nutrient efficiency programme to offset the discharge from the creamery. This was established to offset the nutrient and sediment
load discharged as final effluent by the dairy manufacturing site, in equal, or greater than, quantities. This is achieved by matching
the final effluent load with the reduction in nutrient and sediment losses at the farms, within the milk field that supplies the
Haverfordwest site. The three parameters considered in this study are nitrate-N, phosphate and sediment, as required in the permit
from Natural Resources Wales.
Our creamery nutrient and sediment discharge figures were significantly reduced in 2019 in comparison to previous years, despite
a similar overall discharge volume. This is due to the introduction of upgraded processing equipment, which is much more efficient
than that previously used.
In summary, the Haverfordwest Creamery effluent discharge from December 2018 to November 2019 was 19.71kg of nitrates,
455.5kg of phosphates and 1,415kg of sediment.
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Protecting watercourses (continued)
The nutrient savings achieved by the 33 farms in the same period continued to significantly more than offset the discharge from the
creamery. The farm reductions achieved through participation in the nutrient efficiency programme in the same period were
30,279kg of nitrates (11.89% down, year on year), 1,230kg of phosphates (20.97% down, year on year) and 147,849kg of sediment
(11.55% down year on year). The nutrient savings achieved by the 33 farms in the same period continued to significantly more
than offset the discharge from the creamery.
At the present time, we do not have a similar scheme operating around our Lake District Creamery, however, we intend to
implement this in the future and will report on progress.
Enhancing the natural habitat
Our Nestlé supplying farms continued to undertake habitat improvement work in 2019 as part of our work with Nestlé UK on the
‘Milk Plan’. This saw our members planting or laying 11km of hedgerow, undertake 9.6km of watercourse fencing and 4.8 ha of
woodland planting during the year. Our new First4Milk Pledge includes environmental enhancement and we will monitor progress
in this area through submission of evidence through our First4Milk app and through Farm Business Reviews. As such, we will
provide more detailed reporting of our progress in this area in future years.
We remain committed to taking a leading part in the development of Landscape Enterprise Networks (LENs) to create business
value from healthy landscapes, and discussions continue with stakeholders to try to progress this area of activity. We are hoping to
roll out some on-farm trials during the summer of 2020, depending on the situation with the COVID-19 pandemic.
RECOGNISING SUCCESS
Sustainability is a journey and a significant element of success will be how people engage in the project themes we are focusing
on. To help raise awareness of our sustainability aims, we have undertaken key award programmes with our members to
recognise success and highlight good practice to others.
Our 2019 Responsible Farming Awards were presented at last year’s AGM and celebrated those farmer members demonstrating
excellence under each of our three key themes of People, Animals and Environment. In addition, we presented a Chairman’s
Award for the member showing particular professionalism and dedication to dairy farming. The awards were judged by
independent judges from across the industry. We also presented our annual Milk Quality awards to members, celebrating the
exceptional milk quality across our member milk pool.
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CFO report
Greg Jardine
In the year ended 31 March 2020 we continued to strengthen our relative milk price, while delivering strongly across the key
financial metrics, growing turnover, reducing bank borrowing and continuing our capital investment to enable us to deliver dairy
prosperity over the longer term. In addition, post year-end we paid out our first member premium, equivalent to 0.25ppl for milk
supplied in 2019/20.
Financial highlights

Group turnover
Operating profit (before exceptional items)
Net profit for the year
Net bank borrowings
Capital investment across all our sites
Total group capital and reserves

2020
£282.8m
£7.5m
£4.5m
£33.1m
£5.3m
£39.8m

2019
£272.3m
£7.2m
£2.7m
£41.1m
£4.4m
£31.8m

Turnover
Through volume growth in all aspects of the business, sales for 2019-2020 increased by 4% to £283m. Cheese sales increased in
the UK through Ornua Foods UK, while export sales with our export cheese partner increased by 14% to £44m. During the year we
th
saw growth with existing and new fresh milk customers, including a new milk supply group for Yeo Valley. On 30 June 2019 we
acquired Fonterra’s share of the Fast Forward joint venture and entered into a sales and marketing agreement for WPC80 powder
with Havero Hoogwegt as sole owners of the WPC80 manufacturing facilities.
Profitability
Our operating profit of £7.5m was consistent at 2.7% of turnover. Our strategic objective is to deliver above market total returns to
our farmer members, primarily through milk price, whilst investing in our business for the future. As well as delivering our operating
profit, sales volume growth, facilitated through investing to increase creamery capacities, along with strong operational efficiencies
and a solid business performance, we have further strengthened our relative milk price, measured by the improvement in the 12
month rolling averages Milk Price Index (MPI). The improvement in net profit relative to operating profit year on year is due to
higher exceptional costs, principally related to a £2m impairment of assets, in the prior year.
Exceptional Items
In the year to 31 March 2020 we incurred, and have separately disclosed, two items considered to be non-recurring and
exceptional in nature. The net charge (pre-tax) of these items was £0.6m.
The Board is of the opinion that the nature and materiality of these items makes it appropriate to classify these as ‘exceptional’ and
this provides a more useful presentation of the underlying performance. This presentation is consistent with the way that financial
performance is measured and reported to the Executive Team and to the Board, and assists in providing a meaningful analysis of
our operating profits.
Closure of Campbeltown and Arran Creameries (£0.8m charge)
In April 2018, we announced that following a strategic review, we had determined that this niche, consumer-focused business was
not core to First Milk’s strategic development moving forward and would be put up for sale. Despite an active sales process during
2018 and 2019 we were unable to find a buyer and both sites closed in 2019. As a result of the site closures we incurred
exceptional costs relating to employee redundancies, contract terminations, legal, tax and professional advice.
Head office rent rebate and compensation relating to prior years (£0.2m credit).
Member Investment
Members contributed a further £0.7m to the business in the year to 31 March 2020 through the retention of 0.5 pence per litre until
they reach their capital targets. As an alternative to the 0.5ppl retention, Asset Match, a transparent share trading platform,
provides members with the opportunity to buy shares to reach their targets. During the year, in excess of 3m shares were traded
on the platform. In the year to March 2020, £0.4m of New Preference shares held by former members were cancelled as they were
not sold within the three year period following termination of membership. At the end of the year Member Capital stood at £76.5m
compared to £76.1m the previous year.
Capital investment
During the year, capital investment continued across the business with £5.3m invested (2019: £4.4m). At Haverfordwest we
completed a £6m capital investment programme that this year included a new cheese tower, separator and milk silo. Work also
commenced on a Combined Heat and Power plant that will be operational late 2020. At Lake District Creamery the second phase
of a multi-year upgrade was completed, including duplex milk pasteurisers and raw milk cleaning in place (CIP) equipment. These
investments in 2019-20 resulted in increased milk processing capacity at both sites while reducing costs and improving quality. We
also upgraded our IT infrastructure to support the future demands of the business.
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Our capital investment programme will continue in 2020-21, including significant on-going investment at both sites aimed at
delivering energy and cost savings, improved productivity and further increasing processing capacity.
Interest
Net finance charges totalled £2.3m, with £1.7m relating to the Wells Fargo debt facility and £0.6m related to finance costs
associated with the pension deficit.
The constituent elements of the interest charge comprised:

Bank loans, overdrafts and revolving facilities
Bank Arrangement Fees
Pension scheme net finance costs
Total Finance Costs

2020 Group

2019 Group

£1.4m
£0.3m
£0.6m
£2.3m

£1.4m
£0.3m
£0.7m
£2.4m

Post year-end (6 April 2020) we extended our debt facilities with Wells Fargo through to July 2024, increasing the facility from £62m
to £70m. As before, the amount available at any time is dependent on the value of stock, debtors and fixed assets.
Balance sheet, cash flow and net debt
The Group’s balance sheet continues to strengthen, with net asset growth of £8m across the financial year to £39.8m. This was
achieved through a combination of a reduction in the pension deficit, capital investment ahead of depreciation, and the continued
profitable and cash generative growth of the business.
Cash flow for year ended 31 March 2020

The cash earnings (EBITDA) within our operating profit of £11.2m, together with £0.7m from member capital proceeds, generated
enough cash to allow us to service our various commitments. EBITDA in the above table is defined as operating profit of £6.8m
plus depreciation charged for the year of £4.4m.
Cash is required on an annual basis to make payment towards the pension deficit reduction agreements, invest at our creameries
and pay bank interest. The net inflow before working capital requirements was £1.4m.
Working capital released £6.6m during the year. £7.4m was released by receivables and payables, with a strong focus on cash,
while lower stock values released £0.2m. Our stock-holding volume remains broadly flat year-on-year with a strong focus on
ensuring we only carry the necessary stock levels to fulfil committed future sales needs.
The “other” net outflow of £1.1m includes the net cash effect (£0.8m) of purchasing Fonterra’s 51% share of Fast Forward FFW
Limited for £2m which included a cash bank balance of £1.2m The balance of the consideration paid was for other assets and
liabilities acquired at book value.
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During the year we repaid £8.5m of our loan facilities, which, accompanied by a slight decrease in cash balances, led to a £8.0m
reduction in net debt to £33.1m.
Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution scheme, a Stakeholder Group Pension Plan with Standard Life. All employees have
access to the stakeholder plan under which the company contributions are charged to the Profit and Loss Account as they fall due
each year.
In addition, First Milk Limited operates the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan, and also participates in The Milk Pension
Fund, an industry scheme in which all participating employers report only their share of assets, liabilities and obligations while
legally holding joint and several liabilities for the scheme as a whole. Both schemes are closed to accrual of benefits.
In the year to 31 March 2020, total contributions of £2.7m, including contingent contributions relating to 2019 performance were
paid to the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan, while contributions of £1.2m were paid to the Milk Pension Fund.
During the year our total pension liabilities (net of deferred tax assets) fell from £6.8m to £1.5m. The contributions to the defined
contribution scheme charged to the profit and loss account in the year ended 31 March 2020 were £0.8m (2019: £0.7m).
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The directors of First Milk Limited (“First Milk”, the “Society” or “Group”) present their strategic report for the year ended 31 March
2020. The Group includes First Milk Limited and the subsidiaries listed in note 12.
The business and principal activities
First Milk Limited is a dairy farmers’ co-operative registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014
(number: 29199R). The principal activities of the Group and Society are the marketing of milk on behalf of its members and the
manufacture and sale of dairy products.
Results
The financial statements on pages 16 to 47 detail the trading results and financial position of the Group and Society, which, in the
year ending 31 March 2020, included The First Milk Cheese Company Limited, Scottish Milk Products Limited, Fast Forward FFW
Limited and First Milk Energy Limited. Fast Forward FFW Limited and First Milk Energy Limited were joint ventures that terminated
during the year to 31 March 2020 when First Milk acquired 100% of the share capital of each company.
Key financial performance indicators
The table below provides key financial performance indicators (“KPIs”) relating to the Group’s performance during the year.
Financial KPIs

2020

2019

Group turnover

£282.8m

£272.3m

Operating profit (before exceptional items)

£7.5m

£7.2m

Profit for the year

£4.5m

£2.7m

Total capital and reserves

£39.8m

£31.8m

Net bank debt (external borrowings less cash)

£33.1m

£41.1m

Our operating profit of £7.5m was marginally higher than last year and in line with our budget and expectations. Our strategic
objective is to deliver long-term prosperity for members, primarily through milk price, whilst retaining sufficient profits to meet our
business obligations and commitments. As well as increasing our operating profit the business performance has allowed us to
further strengthen our relative milk price, as highlighted in the improvement in the 12 month rolling averages Milk Price Index (MPI).
The Group’s balance sheet continues to strengthen, with net asset growth of £8m across the financial year to £39.8m. This was
achieved through a combination of a reduction in the pension deficit, investment in our processing ahead of depreciation, and the
continued profitable and cash generative growth of the business.
The Group’s and Society’s profit and loss accounts and balance sheets are shown on pages 16 and 17.
Prospects and strategic aspiration
The Group’s key objective is to deliver above market total returns to the farmer members of First Milk.
The directors plan to deliver this objective includes the following elements:








Improve milk price relative to competitors and grow the value of the business, whilst meeting commitments to lenders.
Positively develop customer relationships that continue to create value through growing our cheese and milk business.
Improve operational performance through cost reduction, optimising site utilisation and increasing productivity.
Improve systems, processes and reporting to speed the provision of timely, informative information.
Deliver value to Members that builds First Milk’s Member proposition.
Enhance people’s effectiveness throughout the business by building knowledge and understanding and developing skills
and capability.

Review of the business – key events timeline
In April 2019, the board began monthly accruals of the member premium.
th

On 30 June 2019, First Milk purchased 51% of the share capital of Fast Forward FFW Limited from Fonterra Europe Cooperative
U.A. and became the sole owner of the whey protein concentrate manufacturing facilities based at our Lake District Creamery. At
the same time we formed a new strategic partnership with Havero Hoogwegt for global WPC80 sales and distribution.
In March 2020, COVID-19 lockdown was implemented. As food producers, First Milk employees were categorised as key workers
by the government, office staff worked from home making use of video conferencing facilities for communication, while sites
continued to operate throughout March and into the new financial year with low COVID-19 related absence levels.
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Post balance sheet events
On 6 April 2020, First Milk renewed long-term debt arrangements with Wells Fargo Capital Finance (UK) Limited.
On 15 April 2020, First Milk disposed of the site of the former creamery at Campbeltown.
On 30 April 2020, First Milk purchased the entire share capital of Lake District Biogas Limited.
In April 2020, the first member premium payments were paid to members.
Principal risks and uncertainties
Loss of milk production volumes
The Board addresses the risk of losing milk volumes by paying its members the maximum milk price possible, taking into account
the need to retain funds to invest in processing sites and meeting commitments to lenders.
In addition, members’ milk price is reviewed on a regular basis and the Board has a policy of keeping members appraised of factors
influencing the amount paid. This is supported by a pro-active communications policy, through which members are kept up to date
at meetings and through letters and regular email news briefings.
Competitive risk
The Society sells milk to processors, many of whom have the option of sourcing their raw milk requirement directly from individual
farmers.
First Milk sells hard cheese and dairy ingredients into domestic and export markets. In doing so, it faces competition from other
similar companies at home and abroad. It also manufactures milk derivatives and faces the risk of customers using alternative
supplies or substituting milk derivatives with non-dairy alternatives in their own products.
First Milk addresses these risks by developing long-term strategic relationships with key customers, ensuring that sales staff are
fully aware of relevant markets, including export markets, offering products at market competitive price and providing excellent
service levels.
Regulatory risk
The Group and Society are required to comply with various regulatory regimes in areas such as competition law, health & safety
and environmental regulation. This is achieved through the adoption of appropriate policies and structures, risk assessments,
monitoring and review of performance, recruitment and training of suitably qualified staff and support from external consultants,
including legal advisers, where appropriate.
Input cost risk
First Milk is exposed to market price movements for commodities, including electricity, gas, plastics and cardboard. This risk is
mitigated in relation to many input costs by maintaining awareness of markets and by forward buying where this is appropriate. In
addition, the use of such commodities is kept to a minimum and reduced where possible. The business addresses the exposure to
energy costs by buying energy in the wholesale market, with expert assistance from energy consultants.
Financial risks
The Group and Society’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks including price, credit, interest rate, liquidity and fraud
risk. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group and the Society’s risk management framework as approved by the
Board of Directors. The Group and Society does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Price risk
The risk of the business receiving low prices compared to market levels is mitigated, where possible, by the use of up-to-date
market intelligence.
Credit risk
First Milk’s principal financial assets are trade and other receivables, investments, bank balances and cash.
The Group and Society’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet
are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified triggering event
which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.
Credit risk attributable to trade receivables is mitigated through the use of credit insurance.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group and Society’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. The Group and Society has used
interest rate swap contracts in the past, where appropriate, to hedge these exposures. Presently there are no such contracts in
place.
Liquidity risk
In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future developments, the Group
and Society aims to use a mixture of long-term and short-term debt finance. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. Further information with regard to the
management of current liquidity risk is contained in note 1 to the financial statements.
Fraud risk
First Milk recognises the risk of fraud. This risk is mitigated through reviews of controls within systems, conducted, where
appropriate, with the assistance of internal auditors, and by the adoption of an Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy.
Cyber risk and risk of data breach
First Milk recognises the risks to IT systems and data from cyber-attacks. These risks are mitigated by the use of up to date antivirus software, regular back-up of data and use of cloud based storage. The board has addressed the risk of personal data
breaches by staff training and the adoption of policies on privacy and acceptable use of IT equipment.
Brexit risk
The decision by the United Kingdom to leave the European Union created uncertainties in relation to labour, energy costs, input
supplies, export regulations and commercial activities. Some of these risks affect First Milk directly while other effects will be
indirect, for example where they affect the commercial activities of partner businesses. The board addresses these uncertainties
by monitoring developments and government guidance and taking mitigating actions where deemed appropriate.
COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has created short-term and long-term risks.
In the short term, absence levels at First Milk’s manufacturing sites as a result of COVID-19 were monitored constantly and there
was regular communication with members, partners, industry bodies and government so that any potential interruption to supply
chain could be identified as early as possible and addressed. In addition, in the short term, office staff had to work from home. The
communication challenges that this raised were addressed through the use of video conferencing facilities.
In the first few months of the new year, COVID-19 has not had a material effect on First Milk’s financial performance. The majority
of our customers are exposed to retail, the area least affected by the outbreak. At the manufacturing sites absence levels as a
result of COVID-19 were monitored constantly, to ensure any potential interruption to supply chain was identified as early as
possible and addressed. Absence levels remained low and we have continued to see maximum throughput at the creameries
during the spring flush.
The long term economic impact of the pandemic is not known. The board will address this risk by monitoring developments and will
factor potential impacts into its decision making.
Approved by the Directors
and signed by order of the Board

Angus Waugh
Company Secretary
30 June 2020
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of First Milk Limited for the year ended 31 March 2020.
Business performance and future developments
The business performance and future developments of the Group are highlighted in the strategic report set out on page 2 and the
executive summary.
Dividends
No dividends were paid during the year (2019: £nil) and no recommendation is made in respect of dividends or dividends to be paid
(2019: £nil).
Employees
The recruitment, development, retention and maintenance of a highly skilled workforce is key to the future of the business. It is the
policy of the Board of Directors to enlist the commitment of all employees in attaining the Group's and Society’s objectives.
Implementation of this policy is by encouraging employee involvement through effective communications, which includes an
induction process for new employees, team briefings, newsletters, a company intranet and any other appropriate means of
individual or collective consultation.
Disabled employees
It is the Board of Directors' policy to ensure that continuous employment is offered to employees who become temporarily or
permanently disabled where it is practicable to do so within the scope of the business activities of the Group and Society.
Political donations
The policy of the Board of Directors is not to make donations of a political nature.
The board of directors
The directors who held office during the year to 31 March 2020 and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as
follows:
Chris Thomas
Jim Baird
Robert Craig
Shelagh Hancock
Greg Jardine
Brian Mackie
Carl Ravenhall

-

non-executive director and chairman
non-executive farmer director and vice-chairman
non-executive farmer director
executive director
executive director
non-executive director
non-executive director

The non-executive farmer directors’ capital account balance and interests in the preference shares of the Society at 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2019 were:

31 March 2020
C Preference
New Preference
Shares
Shares
£
£
Jim Baird
Robert Craig

178,153
473,670

31 March 2019
C Preference
New Preference
Shares
Shares
£
£

17,179
155,500

178,153
263,669

17,179
120,000

Each non-executive farmer director is also a member of First Milk Limited and as such holds one ordinary share.

Post balance sheet events
Events after 31 March 2020 are referred to in the key events timeline in the strategic report.
Financial instruments
The Group and Society do not use derivative financial instruments as referred to in the principal risks and uncertainties sec tion of
the strategic report.
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Going concern
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Current Trading and Borrowings
The year to 31 March 2020 saw a fourth profitable year at both the Operating Profit level and Net Profit level, with profits delivered
in line with plans. The Group’s operating profit before exceptional items was £7,484k (2019: £7,202k). Net profit for the year of
£4,496k, compared to a profit of £2,665k in 2019. In the first three months of the year to 31 March 2021 trading and operational
performance is tracking in line with the projections set at the beginning of the year. COVID-19 has not had a material effect on First
Milk’s financial performance to date. The majority of our customers are exposed to the area least affected by the outbreak, namely
retail. In the short term, absence levels at our manufacturing sites as a result of COVID-19 were monitored constantly to ensure
any potential interruption to supply chain was identified as early as possible and addressed and we have continued to see
maximum throughput at the creameries during the spring flush.
Our strategic objective is to deliver above market total returns to our farmer members, primarily through milk price, whilst investing
in our business for the future. As well as delivering our operating profit strong operational efficiencies and a solid business
performance has enabled us to further strengthen our relative milk price, measured by the improvement in the 12 month rolling
averages Milk Price Index (MPI).
The Group’s net bank debt reduced from £41,136k to £33,137k during the year, as a result of positive operating cash flow and
working capital inflows. While, borrowings have increased since year-end this is in relation to the normal seasonal flow of funds
and net debt and facility headroom remains in line with budget.
Funding
The business is financed through a combination of members’ capital contributions and debt facilities. Members’ capital
contributions are collected through the retention of 0.5 pence per litre from each member’s milk payment until they reach their
capital target. In the financial year members’ capital contributions totalled £0.7m.
In April 2020, the business renewed its facilities agreement with its existing debt provider, Wells Fargo for a further four year
term. These facilities, repayable on 31 July 2024, are secured by fixed securities over certain Group assets, a floating charge over
Scottish Milk Products Limited and a debenture over First Milk Limited and The First Milk Cheese Company Limited. There are
financial covenants applicable to these facilities, with which we have been in compliance since the inception of the facilities and we
comply with throughout the forecast period, ensures there is a specified minimum level of headroom with the facility on any
business day.
The maximum facility available to the Group is £74 million, with the amount available at any time dependant on the value of stock
and debtors and is based on a percentage draw-down specified in the facility agreement and a term loan. The amount available
from the revolving facility at 30 June 2020 was £59,833k (31 March 2020: £51,139k). In addition to the facility there is a term loan
based on fixed asset values which at 30 June 2020 was £4,986k (31 March 2020: £2,200k). The Board’s forecasts show that there
is adequate headroom within this level of debt facilities over the next year.
Forecasts
The Board has undertaken a thorough review of the Group’s forecasts and associated risks. These forecasts extend for a period
beyond one year from the date of approval of these financial statements. The forecasts make key assumptions based on
information available to the directors at the time of the approval of these financial statements that:






the business will ensure profitability is achieved and returns to members, primarily through milk price are maximised, whilst
also retaining sufficient profits to meet our business obligations and commitments;
there is no material adverse impact in the bank facilities available to the Group as a result of the market value of stock
falling, given this is a key feature in establishing the amount of borrowing facilities available to the Group, or other adverse
working capital movements;
key customer and supplier contracts continue as per their existing commercial arrangements over the contractually agreed
periods and;
COVID-19 does not have a material effect on First Milk’s financial performance.

The directors have based their conclusions regarding going concern upon these forecasts.
Conclusion on Going Concern
At the date of these financial statements, the directors consider that, based upon the information available, financial projections and
the existence of debt facilities which will be available until 31 July 2024, the Group will have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future (being at least twelve months from the approval of these accounts) and consider it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Disclosure of information to auditor
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the Group and Society at the date when this report was approved:



so far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and Society’s auditor is
unaware; and
each of the directors has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make himself / herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group and Society’s auditor is aware of that information.

Independent auditor
A resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Their report on these financial
statements can be found on pages 14 and 15.
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.
The directors have chosen to prepare the financial statements for the Group and Society in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial Reporting
Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).
Legislation requires the directors to prepare such financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and Society and of the surplus or deficit of the Group and Society for that year and comply with UK
GAAP and the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies
(Group Accounts) Regulations 1969. In preparing those financial statements the directors are required to:





select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed subject to any departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Group and
Society will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Society and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and the Co-operative
and Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Group and Society and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors confirm that they have complied with these requirements and, having a reasonable expectation that the Group and
Society have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, have adopted the going concern
basis for preparing the financial statements.
By order of the Board

Angus Waugh
Secretary
30 June 2020
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The purpose of corporate governance is to facilitate effective, entrepreneurial and prudent management that can deliver the longterm success of First Milk.
The Board
The Board of Directors is committed to operating the business with integrity, high ethical values and professionalism and aims to
achieve high standards of corporate governance.
The Board of Directors of First Milk has adopted the Corporate Governance Code for Agricultural Co-operatives (“the Code”) that
was prepared by the Scottish Agricultural Organisation Society (“SAOS”) and Co-operatives UK.
The Code sets out a number of high-level and supporting principles across a range of areas of governance covering the Board and
its committees, member participation in governance, and the audit and Annual Report. The Code also sets out specific provisions
against which a co-operative’s own governance can be measured.
A copy of the Code can be found at https://saos.coop/assets/media/files/CorpGovCodeAgriCoops.pdf
As a consequence, this Corporate Governance report focuses on those aspects that are covered by the Code and should be read
in conjunction with the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee and Remuneration reports on pages 8 and 12.
Members
Members’ powers include the power to:
Ratify (or vote not to ratify) the appointment of directors at the Annual General Meeting;
Remove a director at an Annual General meeting or a Special General Meeting (by a two-thirds majority);
Bring any matter for a member decision at a Special General Meeting that has the support of one-tenth of the
membership;
Approve Rule changes that relate to key matters such as board or Council governance and changes to the member capital
structure;
In groups of 10 or more members, bring matters of interest to the Council (members may still raise matters relating to their
own individual situations with the Society); and
Approve acquisitions and disposals in excess of £25m.
The Council
The Council has a range of powers, including:
-

Holding the board to account on behalf of members;
Recommending candidates for the roles of board chair and vice-chair for election by members at the Annual General
Meeting;
Approving the Nomination process for non-executive directors;
Removing directors from office;
Approving non-executive directors’ remuneration;
Approving the annual budget and business plan for the Society;
Approving acquisitions and disposals (in the case of transactions with a value in excess of £25m, prior to approval by
members);
Approving certain matters relating to member capital, such as the setting of capital targets;
Approving certain Rule changes; and
Making representations to the board with regard to matters concerning members.

The Council comprises seven members who are elected directly by members of First Milk. Each year, either three or four Council
members are required to retire by rotation and may stand for re-election, subject to the rules on term limits. Members are informed
of elections and are encouraged to consider standing for election to the Council in newsletters, member meetings and other
communications. The election voting process is run by Civica, who facilitate an online voting platform. Members who have elected
to continue to receive First Milk communications in hard copy receive paper voting forms. Civica provide independent verification of
election results.
In 2020, Scott Calderwood, Willie Purdie and David Walker Willie Purdie retired and Willie Purdie chose not to seek re-election. In
a contested election between four candidates, Scott Calderwood and David Walker were re-elected and Louise Davies was also
elected as a Council member.
The Council is chaired by an independent chairman, Dr Séan Rickard, who does not have a vote. The Council members are: Scott
Calderwood, Willie Campbell, Louise Davies, Jess Mills, Christine Kelsall, Mike Smith and David Walker.
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The Council (continued)
The Council meets formally on a quarterly basis when it receives a report from the board on performance of the business against
strategic objectives and deals with other matters within its remit. The Council receives monthly information with regard to business
performance. The board also consults the Council as appropriate on matters affecting members.
Board
The role of the board of First Milk Limited is to set strategy and ensure that the business is effectively and efficiently managed and
controlled. In particular, the board is responsible for:
-

Determining the strategy of the Society (subject to its approval by the Council);
Making recommendations for strategic acquisitions and disposals (subject to approval by the Council and where
appropriate, the members);
Overseeing the business of the Society in accordance with the strategy;
Motivating and retaining the executive management;
Holding the executive management to account;
Ensuring adequate succession planning;
Overseeing a risk and internal audit framework;
Setting the milk price paid to members;
Setting capital targets (subject to Council approval); and
Approving the business for the AGM.

In terms of the Rules, the board comprises seven members and is structured to bring a variety of skills and experience to the
performance of its roles. It comprises:
-

A chair and two other independent non-executive directors who bring experience from diverse backgrounds;
Two farmer directors; and
Two executive directors, currently the chief executive and the chief financial officer.

All director appointments are subject to ratification by members at the AGM following their appointment. Directors then retire by
rotation each year and may be eligible for re-appointment subject to the term limits set out in the Rules.
Directors serve for a maximum three terms of two years, but may serve for a longer period to allow for orderly transition. Members
are informed of farmer director vacancies and are encouraged to consider nominating themselves or other members in newsletters,
member meetings and other communications.
Jim Baird will reach the end of his third term in 2020. Accordingly in early 2020 a selection process took place. The process was
overseen by a Nomination Committee set up for this purpose that comprised directors and Council members. Three candidates
were nominated for the farmer director vacancy. They were assessed against set criteria and each candidate was interviewed by
the Nomination Committee and by the Member Council. On a recommendation from the Nomination Committee and taking into
account the views of the Council, the board agreed to appoint Mike Smith as a farmer director with effect from the date of the 2020
Annual General Meeting, subject to ratification by members at the AGM.
Other external directorships held by directors of First Milk are noted below:
Director

External Appointments

Chris Thomas

Street Eats food Ltd
G’s Convenience Foods

Jim Baird

Auchnotroch Wind Energy Limited

Robert Craig

Peepy Farm Ltd
Royal Association of British Dairy Farmers (The)

Shelagh Hancock

Dairy UK Limited*

Brian Mackie

Scottish Milk Pension Fund Trustee*

Carl Ravenhall

CER Business Consultancy Limited
Dairy Partners Ltd
* denotes office held as nominated First Milk
director/trustee

Insepa A/S Denmark

Cairnhead Farm Limited
Dairy UK Limited

Dairy Partners (Cymru Wales) Ltd

FIRST MILK LIMITED
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Board (continued)
The Board has eleven scheduled meetings each year, and meets at other times as required. At each meeting, it receives reports
which enable it to review the Group’s performance. In addition to financial, commercial and operational information and regular
reports on safety, health and environment, the Board considers strategic matters and other issues that affect members’ interests.
The Board meetings (excluding conference calls between meetings) held in the year to 31 March 2020 and director attendance at
each meeting was as follows:

25/4

30/5

27/6

25/7

2019
22/8

26/9

24/10

2/12

23/1

2020
27/2

26/3

Chris Thomas
Robert Craig

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

Jim Baird

yes

Yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Brian Mackie

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Carl Ravenhall
Shelagh Hancock

yes
yes

no
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

Greg Jardine

yes

Yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

The implementation of strategy and day-to-day operational matters are delegated to First Milk’s Executive Team, which operates
under terms of reference set by the Board. However the matters for which the board is responsible, as noted above, are reserved
to the Board.
In order to be able to devote sufficient time to strategic issues, the Board delegates certain tasks to its standing committees, which
operate under set terms of reference. Each committee comprises non-executive directors only.
First Milk’s board committee structure comprises the following committees:
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is chaired by Brian Mackie and also comprises Jim Baird and Robert Craig.
The committee’s roles include overseeing the annual external audit, the annual internal audit plan, reviewing the effectiveness of
internal controls and risk management and monitoring First Milk’s budget process, ongoing forecasts of financial performance and
capital requirements. A report on the activities of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee can be found on page 12.
The committee meetings held in the year to 31 March 2020 and director attendance at each meeting was as follows:
2019
Brian Mackie

29/5
yes

27/6
yes

17/12
yes

Jim Baird
Robert Craig

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

In addition, Scott Calderwood attends committee meetings as Member Council representative.
Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is chaired by Carl Ravenhall and also comprises Chris Thomas and Jim Baird.
Its roles include identifying and nominating, for Board approval, candidates for Board vacancies, considering succession planning
and the structure, size and composition of the Board and approving remuneration policies for the First Milk Group and specific
remuneration packages for senior executives. A Remuneration report can be found on page 13.
The committee meetings held in the year to 31 March 2020 and director attendance at each meeting was as follows:

Carl Ravenhall

2019
3/12
yes

2020
28/2
yes

27/3
yes

Chris Thomas
Jim Baird

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

In addition, Willie Campbell attends committee meetings as Member Council representative.
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Board (continued)
Sustainability committee
The Sustainability committee’s role is to review First Milk’s compliance with legal requirements on health & safety, environment and
employment matters and to review and approve First Milk’s Health and Safety strategy.
Currently the board fulfils the remit of the committee.
Member appeals committee
The Member Appeals Committee is chaired by Jim Baird and also comprises two Council Members (nominated by the Council
when an appeal is submitted), the Membership Director, the Company Secretary and the Responsible Sourcing Manager. The
board may appoint alternative members of the committee as circumstances require.
Its role is to make decisions on matters raised by individual members relating to their membership. The board may also refer
matters to the committee. The committee meets as required when an appeal is submitted.
Board and council training and evaluation
First Milk’s Rules provide that the board and the chair of Council must ensure that a formal and rigorous evaluation of the board
and Council’s performance takes place annually. This evaluation must include a review of working practices, information flows, the
interaction between the Council and the board and must make recommendations for developmental requirements that arise from
the evaluation.
Individual performance and development reviews for the chairman and other board directors took place in 2019. Similar reviews
also took place for the Council chair and Council members in 2019.
A review and evaluation of the board’s and Council’s effectiveness took place during July 2019. This included a review of how the
board and Council work together and as a result of the review changes were made to the Council meeting structure to ensure that
there is more interaction between the Council and the chairman and the other two non-farmer non-executive directors.
Newly appointed directors and Council members go through a comprehensive and tailored induction process. The Board also
receives periodic training as a group on areas such as health & safety and directors’ legal duties.
First Milk’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code for Agricultural Co-operatives
The Corporate Governance Code operates on a “comply or explain” basis, meaning that its provisions are not binding but that an
organisation that has adopted the Code should provide an explanation if it does not comply with a particular provision of the Code.
The board of First Milk monitors its compliance with the Code and is compliant with all its provisions under exception of the
following:


Code Provision 60 recommends that in order to safeguard the democratic status of the board, a co-operative should
ensure that external (non-member) directors and management directors should not exceed 49% of the board.
External (non-member) and management directors comprise five of the seven board positions. However First Milk’s
democratic status is safeguarded by the member Council having substantial powers as noted above.



Code Provision 65 states that the board should appoint, from its own number, a chair and at least one vice chair.
Appointments of the chair and vice chair are made by the board. However their appointments are then recommended by
the Council for approval by members at the Annual General Meeting.



Code provision 78 states that the secretary’s main reporting line should be to the board.
First Milk’s Secretary reports to both the board and the chief executive due to his additional roles of general counsel,
administration of member capital and provision of secretariat support to the Executive Team.

For and on behalf of the Board

Angus Waugh
Secretary
30 June 2020
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AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

12

The Board has overall responsibility for internal controls, including the scope of both external and internal audits, the management
of risk and financial matters. It delegates these tasks to the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee under agreed terms of reference.
External audit
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee meets with the external audit firm at least twice in the course of the year, first to review the
scope of the external audit plan and then to receive and discuss the audit report and financial statements. The Committee also
makes recommendations on the appointment of the external auditors, the fees payable for work carried out by the audit firm and
reports to the Board in respect of non-audit services carried out by the auditors. In considering all of the above, the Committee has
due regard to the cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the audit function.
Deloitte LLP was re-appointed by members as First Milk’s external auditor at the Annual General Meeting in October 2019. Their
report on the financial statements can be found on page 14 and 15.
Risk and controls
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee monitors internal control procedures and reviews their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
There are inherent limitations in any system of internal control, which can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assura nce
with respect to the preparation of financial information and the safeguarding of assets.
The key features of the internal control system that operated throughout the year covered by the financial statements are:





A control environment based on a clearly defined organisational structure;
The identification and evaluation of business risk, control actions and monitoring activities to manage risk and establish
priorities for the allocation of resources;
The operation of control procedures covering financial transactions, verification and reconciliation procedures,
commitment and authorisation limits, asset recording and protection; and
A monitoring process particularly through the operating plan, forecast review and trading reporting processes, which
highlights the key business performance indicators, risks and significant variances from expectations.

The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, in consultation with management, reviews key risk areas and relevant controls across the
Group periodically. In 2020 this has included the risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. The Committee then decides
which areas of the business should be the subject of reviews to ensure that appropriate controls are in place and working. No third
party internal audit reviews have been instructed in the last two years.
Financial reporting, budget process, forecasts, financial performance and capital requirements
Under Terms of Reference approved by the Board, the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee also reviews and monitors First Milk’s
financial reporting, budget process, on-going forecasts of financial performance, capital requirements and pension matters.
Although the Board retains primary responsibility for these matters, the committee is able to give detailed consideration to such
matters and report to the Board on key issues.
For and on behalf of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee

Brian Mackie
Chairman of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee
30 June 2020
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First Milk’s Rules provide that the member Council has the power to set director remuneration.
The Board has overall responsibility for remuneration and has delegated its duties relating to their remuneration to the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee under agreed terms of reference. The Board sets the remuneration of Council members.
The member Council has delegated the power to set executive remuneration to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
Executive remuneration
The following principles are applied to executive remuneration within First Milk:



Total remuneration for all executives should be sufficiently market competitive in total annual cash terms to attract and
retain the calibre of executive required, bearing in mind that this must also reflect the nature and purpose of First Milk
Limited as a member owned co-operative; and
The overall remuneration policy is to operate a clear, consistent and easy to communicate remuneration structure based
around competitive salaries and a bonus scheme that rewards excellent corporate and individual performance. In
particular the bonus scheme must take account of the absence of any share option scheme. The bonus scheme must
also align the interests of employees with that of members of First Milk. This is achieved by basing a significant proportion
of the rewards potentially payable under the scheme on improvements in First Milk’s milk price relative to the published
milk prices of other milk buyers.

These principles apply to executives across the Group.
Details of the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in the years to 31 March 2019 and 31 March
2020 can be found in note 5 to the financial statements.
All employees of the Group are given the opportunity to participate in a defined contribution pension scheme. First Milk Limited
participates in the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan and the Milk Pension Fund, both of which are defined benefit
schemes and are closed to new entrants and future accrual.
Non-executive remuneration
The Council, in consultation with the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, reviews the fees of non-executive directors to
ensure that the level of fees paid is appropriate for the duties, responsibilities and time commitment of directors. These reviews
also ensure that non-executive directors’ fees are not out of step with fees paid in comparable businesses.
The Council reviewed non-executive directors’ fees (including the fees paid to the chairman and the vice-chairman) in August 2019.
In conducting this review, the following factors were taken into account:
The needs and challenges of the business and the responsibilities of directors;
The fees paid to directors of comparable businesses,
The additional duties of directors who chair board committees, and
The fact that non-executive directors’ fees had remained unchanged since 2008.
Following that review, the Council agreed that with effect from 1 October 2019, each non-executive director should receive a fee of
£40,000 per annum, with the committee chairs receiving an additional £5,000 per annum. The Council agreed that there should be
no change to fees paid to the chairman and vice-chairman, being £90,000 and £50,000 respectively, as these had been reviewed
more recently.
Brian Mackie receives £10,000 per annum in respect of work he carries out on behalf of First Milk in relation to the Scottish Milk
Limited Retirement Benefits Plan and the Milk Pension Fund in addition to his director’s duties.
For and on behalf of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Carl Ravenhall
Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
30 June 2020
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of First Milk Limited (the ‘society’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’):

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the society’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of the group’s and
of the society’s profit for the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and

have been prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.
We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated and society profit and loss account;

the consolidated and society statement of comprehensive income;

the consolidated and society balance sheets;

the consolidated and society statements of changes in equity;

the consolidated and society cash flow statement; and

the related notes 1 to 27.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.
We are independent of the group and the society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate;
or

the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group’s or the society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the society’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in
our opinion:

a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or

the society has not kept proper accounting records; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the society’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 87 of the Co-operative and Community
Benefit Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the society’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the society and the society’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Glasgow
30 June 2020
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Profit and loss accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020

2020
Group
£'000

Note

Turnover - continuing operations
Less: share of joint ventures' turnover

2
12

Total turnover
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
- Recurring
- Exceptional items

3

Operating profit
- Continuing operations
Share of operating profit in joint ventures
- Continuing operations

12

Profit before interest
Finance income
Finance costs

7
8

Profit before taxation
Tax on profit

9

Profit / (loss) for the financial year

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

282,803
(1,957)

247,489
-

272,256
(4,963)

235,906
-

280,846

247,489

267,293

235,906

(264,186)

(236,909)

(252,227)

(225,146)

16,660

10,580

15,066

10,760

(9,176)
(643)
(9,819)

(7,656)
(964)
(8,620)

(7,860)
(2,189)
(10,049)

(7,197)
(160)
(7,357)

6,841

1,960

5,017

3,403

458

-

539

-

7,299

1,960

5,556

3,403

31
(2,316)

1
(1,621)

10
(2,357)

7
(1,004)

5,014

340

3,209

2,406

(518)

(501)

(544)

(570)

4,496

(161)

2,665

1,836

Statements of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2020

Note
Profit / (loss) for the financial year:
Group / Society
Associates and joint ventures

Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain relating to the pension schemes
UK deferred tax attributable to actuarial gain - current year
UK deferred tax attributable - prior year
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

24
9

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

4,038
458
4,496

(161)
(161)

2,126
539
2,665

1,836
1,836

3,076
(274)
2,802

3,076
(274)
2,802

61
(10)
308
359

61
(10)
308
359

7,298

2,641

3,024

2,195
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Balance sheet as at 31 March 2020

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

32,432
-

497
34,703
-

29,531
1,471

415
32,470
826

32,432

35,200

31,002

33,711

14
15

50,230
24,936
290
75,456

158
75,127
160
75,445

50,460
31,008
776
82,244

34,463
553
35,016

16

(66,078)

(71,434)

(32,612)

(25,187)

9,378

4,011

49,632

9,829

41,810

39,211

80,634

43,540

(142)
-

-

(40,640)
-

(1,346)
-

41,668

39,211

39,994

42,194

(1,833)

(1,833)

(8,178)

(8,178)

39,835

37,378

31,816

34,016

76,483
(36,648)

76,483
(39,105)

76,133
(44,317)

76,133
(42,117)

39,835

37,378

31,816

34,016

Note

Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in joint ventures

10
11
12
12

Total fixed assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables amounts falling due
within one year
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Trade and other payables amounts falling due
after more than one year
Provisions for liabilities and charges

17
20

Total net assets employed excluding pension
liability
Pension liability

24

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Profit and loss reserve

22

Total capital and reserves

The financial statements on pages 16 to 47 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Shelagh Hancock – Director

Greg Jardine – Director

Angus Waugh – Secretary
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Group statement of change in equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Called up
share
capital
£'000

Profit
and loss
reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance as at 1 April 2018

75,508

(48,072)

27,436

Profit for the financial year

-

2,665

2,665

-

61
298

61
298

-

3,024

3,024

1,356
(731)

731

1,356
-

625

731

1,356

76,133

(44,317)

31,816

-

4,496

4,496

-

3,076
(274)

3,076
(274)

-

7,298

7,298

721
(371)

371

721
-

350

371

721

76,483

(36,648)

39,835

Note

Other comprehensive income for the year:
Actuarial gain relating to the pension schemes
UK deferred tax attributable to actuarial gain

24
9

Total comprehensive income for the year
Shares issued
Shares cancelled

22
22

Total transactions w ith ow ners recognised directly in capital
Balance as at 31 March 2019
Profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Actuarial gain relating to the pension schemes
UK deferred tax attributable to actuarial gain

24
9

Total comprehensive income for the year
Shares issued
Shares cancelled

Total transactions w ith ow ners recognised directly in capital
Balance as at 31 March 2020

22
22
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Society statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Called up
share capital
£'000

Profit
and loss
reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

Balance as at 1 April 2018

75,508

(45,043)

30,465

Profit for the financial year

-

1,836

1,836

-

61
298

61
298

-

2,195

2,195

1,356
(731)

731

1,356
-

625

731

1,356

76,133

(42,117)

34,016

-

(161)

(161)

-

3,076
(274)

3,076
(274)

-

2,641

2,641

721
(371)

371

721
-

350

371

721

76,483

(39,105)

37,378

Note

Other comprehensive income for the year
Actuarial gain relating to the pension schemes
UK deferred tax attributable to actuarial gain

24
9

Total comprehensive income for the year
Shares issued
Shares cancelled

22
22

Total transactions with owners recognised directly in capital
Balance as at 31 March 2019
Loss for the financial year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Actuarial gain relating to the pension schemes
UK deferred tax attributable to actuarial gain

24
9

Total comprehensive income for the year
Shares issued
Shares cancelled

Total transactions with owners recognised directly in capital
Balance as at 31 March 2020

22
22
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Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020

Note

Net cash inflow / (ouflow) from operating activities

23

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

15,051

(40,733)

7,853

(750)

(329)
14,722

(40,733)

7,853

(750)

31
(5,264)
(815)
(6,048)

1
(201)
(2,044)
(2,244)

10
(4,368)
85
540
(3,733)

7
(270)
442
179

(1,396)
721
(8,485)

(986)
721
42,849

(1,702)
1,356
(3,395)

(349)
1,356
(151)

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities

(9,160)

42,584

(3,741)

855

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

(486)

(393)

380

284

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

776

553

396

269

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

290

160

776

553

Taxation paid
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities
Finance income
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of FFW Fast Forward Ltd net of cash
Movement in loans with joint ventures
Net cash (used in) / generated from investing activities
Cash from financing activities
Finance costs
Net proceeds from members
Repayment of loans

7
11

15

8
22
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

1.

Accounting policies

General information
First Milk Limited is a dairy farmers’ co-operative registered under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and
is incorporated in Scotland. The registered office is Glasgow Airport Business Park, 9 Marchburn Drive, Paisley, PA3 2SJ.
The principal activities of the Group and Society are the marketing of milk on behalf of its members and the manufacture and sale
of dairy and lifestyle nutritional products.
Statement of compliance
The Group and individual financial statements of First Milk Limited have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United
Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’’ (‘‘FRS 102’’) and in accordance with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act
2014 and the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969.
Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
Basis of preparation
These consolidated and parent company financial statements have been prepared, on the going concern basis, under the historical
cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain fixed assets, and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
Accounting Standards. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Co-operative and Community Benefit
Societies Act 2014 and the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies (Group Accounts) Regulations 1969.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Society’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in ‘Critical accounting judgements and key source of estimation uncertainty’ section of this note.
Going concern
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Current Trading and Borrowings
The year to 31 March 2020 saw a fourth profitable year at both the Operating Profit level and Net Profit level, with profits delivered
in line with plans. The Group’s operating profit before exceptional items was £7,484k (2019: £7,202k). Net profit for the year of
£4,496k, compared to a profit of £2,665k in 2019. In the first three months of the year to 31 March 2021 trading and operational
performance is tracking in line with the projections set at the beginning of the year. COVID-19 has not had a material effect on First
Milk’s financial performance to date. The majority of our customers are exposed to the area least affected by the outbreak, namely
retail. In the short term, absence levels at our manufacturing sites as a result of COVID-19 were monitored constantly to ensure
any potential interruption to supply chain was identified as early as possible and addressed and we have continued to see
maximum throughout at the creameries during the spring flush.
Our strategic objective is to deliver above market total returns to our farmer members, primarily through milk price, whilst investing
in our business for the future. As well as delivering our operating profit strong operational efficiencies and a solid business
performance has enabled us to further strengthen our relative milk price, measured by the improvement in the 12 month rolling
averages Milk Price Index (MPI).
The Group’s net bank debt reduced from £41,136k to £33,137k during the year, as a result of positive operating cash flow and
working capital inflows. While, borrowings have increased since year-end this is in relation to the normal seasonal flow of funds
and net debt and facility headroom remains in line with budget.
Funding
The business is financed through a combination of members’ capital contributions and debt facilities. Members’ capital
contributions are collected through the retention of 0.5 pence per litre from each member’s milk payment until they reach their
capital target. In the financial year members’ capital contributions totalled £0.7m.
In April 2020, the business renewed its facilities agreement with its existing debt provider, Wells Fargo for a further four year
term. These facilities, repayable on 31 July 2024, are secured by fixed securities over certain Group assets, a floating charge over
Scottish Milk Products Limited and a debenture over First Milk Limited and The First Milk Cheese Company Limited. There are
financial covenants applicable to these facilities, with which we have been in compliance since the inception of the facilities and we
comply with throughout the forecast period, ensures there is a specified minimum level of headroom with the facility on any
business day.
The maximum facility available to the Group is £74 million, with the amount available at any time dependant on the value of stock
and debtors and is based on a percentage draw-down specified in the facility agreement and a term loan. The amount available
from the revolving facility at 30 June 2020 was £59,833k (31 March 2020: £51,139k). In addition to the facility there is a term loan
based on fixed asset values which at 30 June 2020 was £4,986k (31 March 2020: £2,200k). The Board’s forecasts show that there
is adequate headroom within this level of debt facilities over the next year.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern (continued)
Forecasts
The Board has undertaken a thorough review of the Group’s forecasts and associated risks. These forecasts extend for a period
beyond one year from the date of approval of these financial statements. The forecasts make key assumptions based on
information available to the directors at the time of the approval of these financial statements that:






the business will ensure profitability is achieved and returns to members, primarily through milk price are maximised, whilst
also retaining sufficient profits to meet our business obligations and commitments;
there is no material adverse impact in the bank facilities available to the Group as a result of the market value of stock
falling, given this is a key feature in establishing the amount of borrowing facilities available to the Group, or other adverse
working capital movements;
key customer and supplier contracts continue as per their existing commercial arrangements over the contractually agreed
periods and;
COVID-19 does not have a material effect on First Milk’s financial performance.

The directors have based their conclusions regarding going concern upon these forecasts.
Conclusion on Going Concern
At the date of these financial statements, the directors consider that, based upon the information available, financial projections and
the existence of debt facilities which will be available until 31 July 2024, the Group will have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future (being at least twelve months from the approval of these accounts) and consider it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102
FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions if certain conditions, have been complied with. A qualifying entity
is defined as a member of a Group that prepares publicly available financial statements, which give a true and fair view, in which
that member is consolidated. First Milk Limited can take exemptions in its standalone financial statements.
As a qualifying entity, the Society has taken advantage of the following exemptions:
i)

from the requirement to present certain financial instrument disclosures, as required by sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of First Milk Limited and its subsidiary undertakings made up to
31 March 2020.
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities. Where the Group owns less than 50% of the voting powers of an entity but controls the
entity by virtue of an agreement with other investors which give it control of the financial and operating policies of the entity it
accounts for that entity as a subsidiary.
Where a subsidiary has different accounting policies to the Group, adjustments are made to those subsidiary financial statements
to apply the Group’s accounting policies when preparing the consolidated financial statements.
A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which each
venture has an interest. The entity operates in the same way as other entities, except that a contractual arrangement between the
ventures establishes joint control over the economic activity of the entity.
In the consolidated financial statements, shares in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. The consolidated
income statement includes the Group’s share of the pre-tax profits or losses and attributable taxation of the joint venture based on
the latest available financial statements for these undertakings.
The Group’s share of the net assets of these undertakings is shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group’s share of joint
venture revenue is included in total revenue in the income statement.
Any subsidiary undertakings sold or acquired during the year are included up to, or from, the dates of change of control.
Where control of a subsidiary is lost, the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement at cost. The cumulative
amounts of any exchange differences on translation, recognised in equity, are not included in the gain or loss on disposal and are
transferred to income and expenditure. The gain or loss also includes amounts included in other comprehensive income that are
required to be reclassified to profit or loss but excludes those amounts that are not required to be reclassified.
All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currency
i) Functional and presentation currency
The Group financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and rounded to thousands.
The Society’s functional and presentation currency is the pound sterling (£).
ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.
At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-monetary items measured at
historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value
are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was determined.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement
within ‘finance (expense)/ income’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within
‘Other operating (losses)/gains’.
Revenue recognition
Group and society
Revenue, which is stated net of value added tax, represents amounts invoiced to third parties for goods or services supplied during
the year, and is recognised on the sale of milk and other ingredients products at the point of collection and on dispatch of cheese.
Revenue and operating surplus relate to the continuing operations of the Group and are all attributable to the principal business
activity, being the marketing, manufacture and sale of milk, cheese and other dairy and lifestyle nutritional products.
Society
The revenue and operating surplus relate to continuing operations within the UK. For the Society, these include intra group
transactions which are eliminated on consolidation in the Group figures.
Exceptional items
The Group classifies certain charges or credits that have a significant impact on the Group’s financial results as ‘exceptional items’.
These are disclosed separately to provide further understanding of the financial performance of the Group.
Employee benefits
The Group provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday arrangements and
defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans.
i) Short term benefits
Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the service is received.
ii)

Defined contribution pension plans

The Group operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Group has no further payment
obligations. The contributions are recognised as an expense when they are due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the
balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Group in independently administered funds.
iii) Defined benefit pension plans
The Group operates two defined benefit plans for certain employees. A defined benefit plan defines the pension benefit that the
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent upon several factors including age, length of service and remuneration. A
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Both plans are now closed to new members and to
future accrual.
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of each defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting date less the fair value of the plan assets at the reporting date.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
iii)
Defined benefit pension plans (continued)
The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least
triennially and are updated at each balance sheet date. The present value is determined by discounting the estimated future
payments using market yields on high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in sterling and that have terms approximating
the estimated period of the future payments (‘discount rate’).
The fair value of plan assets is measured in accordance with the FRS 102 fair value hierarchy and in accordance with the Society’s
policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use of appropriate valuation techniques.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income. These amounts together with the return on plan assets, less amounts included in net interest, are
disclosed as ‘Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability’.
The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in profit or loss as employee costs, except where included in the cost of an asset,
comprise the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements.
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair
value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profit or loss as ‘Finance expense’.
Taxation
Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.
i)

Current tax

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on the
basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.
ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated
in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in
periods different from those in which they are recognised in financial statements.
Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date except for certain exceptions. Unrelieved tax losses and
other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax
liabilities or other future taxable profits.
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end and that are
expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.
The cost of a business combination is the fair value of the consideration given, liabilities incurred or assumed and of equity
instruments issued plus the costs directly attributable to the business combination. Where control is achieved in stages the cost is
the consideration at the date of each transaction.
On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities unless the fair
value cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value is incorporated in goodwill. Where the fair value of contingent liabilities
cannot be reliably measured they are disclosed on the same basis as other contingent liabilities.
Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the purchase consideration over the
fair values to the Group’s interest in the identifiable net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.
On acquisition, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (‘CGU’s’) that are expected to benefit from the combination.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is amortised over its expected useful life. Where the Group is unable to make a reliable estimate of useful life, goodwill is
amortised over a period not exceeding 5 years. Goodwill is assessed for impairment when there are indicators of impairment and
any impairment is charged to the income statement. Reversals of impairment are recognised when the reasons for the impairment
no longer apply.
Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
expenditures are charged to the income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment by equal annual instalments over their
estimated useful lives.
The useful lives assumed for buildings vary between 20 and 50 years and for plant, equipment and vehicles between 4 and 15
years. Land is not depreciated.
Tangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On disposal, the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss and included in ‘Other operating
(losses)/gains’.
Leases
At inception the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets.
arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.
i)

The assessment considers whether the

Operating leased assets

Leases that do not transfer all the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments under operating
leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
ii)

Lease incentives

Incentives received to enter into an operating lease are credited to the income statement, to reduce the lease expense, on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Impairment of non-financial assets
At each balance sheet date non-financial assets not carried at fair value are assessed to determine whether there is an indication
that the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit) may be impaired. If there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the asset
(or asset’s cash generating unit) is compared to the carrying amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit).
The recoverable amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit) is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. Value in use is defined as the present value of the future cash flows before interest and tax obtainable as a result of the
asset’s (or asset’s cash generating unit) continued use. These cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that
represents the current market risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the asset.
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit) is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, the
carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, unless the asset
has been revalued when the amount is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any previously recognised
revaluation. Thereafter any excess is recognised in profit or loss.
If an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or asset’s cash generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the revised carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.
Goodwill is allocated on acquisition to the cash generating unit expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill
is included in the carrying value of cash generating units for impairment testing.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Investments - society
i) Investment in subsidiary company
Investment in a subsidiary company is held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
ii)

Investment in joint venture entities

Investment in joint venture entity is held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
At each reporting date investments are assessed to determine whether there is an indication that the asset may be impaired . If
there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the investments is compared to the carrying amount of the asset. If the
recoverable amount of the investments is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement immediately.
Government grants
Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are treated as deferred income and released to the profit and loss
account over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. Other grants are credited to the profit and loss account as the
related expenditure is incurred.
Inventories
Inventories of milk are valued at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to sell. Cost is the prevailing monthly
payment for milk purchased. Inventories of cheese and other inventories are valued at the lower of cost and estimated selling price
less cost to sell. Where applicable, cost includes direct costs, direct labour and an attributable proportion of manufacturing
overheads based on normal levels of activity. Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective items where appropriate.
Cost is determined on the basis of standard cost, adjusted for production and price variances.
At the end of each reporting period inventories are assessed for impairment. If an item of inventory is impaired, the identified
inventory is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell and an impairment charge is recognised in the income
statement. Where a reversal of the impairment is required the impairment charge is reversed, up to the original impairment loss,
and is recognised as a credit in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities.
Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. If
the effect is material, expected future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations might be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
Financial instruments
The Group has chosen to adopt sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.
i)

Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially recognised at transaction
price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present value of the
future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.
Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method where applicable.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
i)

Financial assets (continued)

At the end of each reporting period financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment.
If an asset is impaired the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.
If there is a decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised the impairment is
reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had
the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets are derecognised when (i) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (ii)
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (iii) despite having retained
some significant risks and rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical
ability to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.
ii)

Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and loans from fellow Group companies are initially recognised at
transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present
value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.
Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented
as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
Derivatives, including interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, are not basic financial instruments.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured
at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or income as appropriate.
The Group does not currently apply hedge accounting for interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
iii)

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the financial statements when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Critical accounting judgements and key source of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses
during the year. However, the nature of the estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. There were
no critical judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty made by the directors in applying the company's accounting policies
in the current year.
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Turnover

Group
Turnover, which is stated net of value added tax, represents amounts invoiced to third parties for goods or services supplied during
the year. It is recognised on the sale of milk and other ingredients products at the point of collection and on dispatch of cheese.
Turnover and operating surplus relate to the continuing operations of the Group and are all attributable to the principal bus iness
activity, being the marketing, manufacture and sale of milk, cheese and other dairy products.
The majority of turnover relates to the sale of goods with £3.3m (2019: £3.7m) relating to services supplied during the year.
The majority of turnover is to the UK with £44.5m (2019: £39.0m) being to Continental Europe. Sales to the rest of the world were
£0.01m (2019: £0.01m).
Society
The turnover and operating surplus relate to continuing operations within the UK and include intra group transactions which are
eliminated on consolidation in the Group figures.
3.

Exceptional items

Total exceptional costs of £643k in the Group profit and loss account for 2020 comprise professional fees of £390k in relation to the
potential sale of the Scottish Creameries, income of £212k relating to a historical rent claim and compensation and £472k in
relation to payroll and redundancy costs.
Total exceptional costs of £2,189k in the Group profit and loss account for 2019 comprise professional fees of £120k in relation to
the potential sale of the Scottish Creameries, £1,990k in relation to the impairment of assets related to creamery buildings and
equipment which were written down to a value in use that reflects lower returns from our two smaller creameries, pension costs of
£934k in relation to the Lloyds ruling GMP equalisation charge, income of (£873k) received at the end of our haulier contract and
£18k in relation to payroll and redundancy costs.
Total exceptional costs of £964k in the Society profit and loss account for 2020 comprise professional fees of £301k in relation to
the potential sale of the Scottish Creameries, income of £212k relating to a historical rent claim and compensation and £875k noncash entry for the strike off of Scottish Milk Dairies Limited (£357k), Kingdom Cheese Company Ltd (£5k), KCSUBCO 1 Limited
(£508k) and Kingdom 99 (£5k).
The exceptional costs of £160k in the Society profit and loss account for 2019 comprise of professional fees of £83k in relation to
the potential sale of the Scottish Creameries, pension costs of £934k in relation to the Lloyds ruling GMP equalisation charge,
income of (£873k) received at the end of our haulier contract and £16k in relation to payroll and redundancy costs.
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4.

Operating profit

2020
Group
£'000
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and machinery (note 11)
Impairment of property, plant and machinery (note 11)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease rentals
Auditor's remuneration:
Audit Services:
-audit of society financial statements
-audit of subsidiary companies
Non-Audit services:
-tax services
Government grants released

5.

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

4,401
248

119
168

3,696
1,990
104
295

118
203

58
77

58
-

55
70

55
-

37
(345)

22
-

96
(372)

12
-

2020

2019

Directors’ remuneration

The executive directors are all employed by the Society and their remuneration was as follows:

Shelagh Hancock
Greg Jardine

Salary
£

Pension
contributions
£

Car allowances
and
benefits in kind
£

Bonuses
£

Total
£

Total
£

230,687
147,969

27,912
14,797

13,657
10,994

143,314
65,661

415,570
239,421

383,651
191,119

378,656

42,709

24,651

208,975

654,991

574,770
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Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The remuneration received by the non-executive and farmer elected and selected directors, who were all employed by the Society,
was as follows:

Clive Sharpe (to 31 July 2018)
Chris Thomas (f rom 1 August 2018)
Jim Baird
Robert Craig
Carl Ravenhall
Brian Mackie

2020
£

2019
£

90,000
50,000
37,500
40,000
50,000

30,000
60,000
50,000
35,000
35,000
45,000

267,500

255,000

In the year to 31 March 2020, Brian Mackie received £10,000 (2019: £10,000) in addition to his remuneration as a director for the
work he carried out in relation to the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan and the Milk Pension Fund.
The aggregate emoluments paid to directors in the year to 31 March 2020 were £922k (2019: £830k).
No directors (2019: none) accrued benefits during the year under defined benefit pension schemes. No directors (2019: none)
accrued post-employment benefits under defined contribution pension schemes.
Key management includes the executive directors and members of the Executive team. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown below:

Executive Team (excluding executive directors listed above)

6.

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

1,038

876

Employee Information

Staff costs and the average monthly number of persons (including executive directors) employed by the Group and Society during
the year was:

2020
Group
£'000
Staff costs
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

Employee numbers
Administration
Production

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

9,062
917
469

3,561
389
188

9,165
909
472

3,285
354
181

10,448

4,138

10,546

3,820

65
171

59
-

54
181

52
-

236

59

235

52
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7.

Finance income

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

Interest on short-term deposits with banks
Interest from Joint Venture

31
-

1
-

4
6

1
6

Total finance income on financial assets not measured at fair value through
the profit and loss account

31

1

10

7

Total finance income

31

1

10

7

8.

Finance costs

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

Bank loans, overdrafts and revolving credit facilities
Pension scheme net finance cost (note 24)

1,681
635

986
635

1,702
655

349
655

Total finance costs

2,316

1,621

2,357

1,004

9.

Tax on profit

2020
Group
£'000
Current tax
Tax charge for the current period
Adjustments in respect of prior periods

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

(86)
(107)
(193)

(128)
(138)
(266)

(37)
(37)

-

Deferred tax
Reversal of timing differences
Adjustments in respect of prior periods
Effect of changes in tax rates
Total deferred tax

602
(31)
140
711

621
146
767

292
320
(31)
581

292
309
(31)
570

Total tax per income statement

518

501

544

570
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Tax on profit on ordinary activities (continued)

Tax credit included in other comprehensive income:

2020
Group
£'000
Deferred tax - current year charge
Deferred tax - prior year credit

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

274
-

274
-

10
(308)

10
(308)

274

274

(298)

(298)

The standard rate of tax for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax, is 19% (2019: 19%). The actual tax charge
for the current and the previous year differs from the standard rate for the reasons set out in the following reconciliation:

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Tax on profit on ordinary activities
at standard rate of 19% (2019: 19%)

5,014

340

3,252

2,406

953

65

618

457

Expenses not deductible
Income not taxable
Trading losses extinguished on cessation of trade
Effects of group relief / other reliefs
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised
Adjustments in respect of prior periods
Tax rate changes

469
(269)
10
(663)
(122)
140

277
105
46
(138)
146

44
(93)
(277)
283
(31)

31
(196)
309
(31)

518

501

544

570

Total tax charge

Finance Bill 2016 had previously enacted provisions to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020 and
accordingly the deferred tax at 31 March 2019 had been calculated at this rate. However, in the March 2020 Budget it was
announced that the reduction will not occur and the Corporation Tax Rate will be held at 19%. The Provisional Collection of Taxes
Act was used to substantively enact the revised 19% tax rate on 17 March 2020 and accordingly the deferred tax balances have
been re-calculated to 19% at the year ended 31 March 2020.
The rate used to calculate deferred tax in these Financial Statements is 19% (2019: 17%), since this is the expected rate that will
apply when the deferred tax timing differences reverse.
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10.

Intangible fixed assets – Group

2020
£'000

2019
£'000

Goodwill
Cost/Valuation
At 1 April

10,637

10,637

At 31 March

10,637

10,637

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April
Amortised in year
Impairment

10,637
-

10,637
-

At 31 March

10,637

10,637

-

-

Plant, equipment and vehicles
owned
leased
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

Net book value
At 31 March

11.

Property, plant and equipment – Group

Freehold land
and buildings
£'000
Cost / valuation
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Acquisition
Transfers
Disposals

6,892
448
764
-

60,558
5,264
5,285
(764)
(76)

1,180
-

68,630
5,264
5,733
(76)

At 31 March 2020

8,104

70,267

1,180

79,551

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019
Charge for the year
Acquisition
Transfers
Disposals

2,455
391
124
31
-

35,464
4,010
3,519
(31)
(24)

1,180
-

39,099
4,401
3,643
(24)

At 31 March 2020

3,001

42,938

1,180

47,119

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

5,103

27,329

-

32,432

At 31 March 2019

4,437

25,094

-

29,531

There are no outstanding liabilities in respect of leased assets.
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Property, plant and equipment – Society

Land and Plant, equipment
buildings
and vehicles
£'000
£'000

Total
£'000

Cost/Valuation
At 1 April 2019
Additions

34
-

1,582
201

1,616
201

At 31 March 2020

34

1,783

1,817

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019
Charge for the year

2
1

1,199
118

1,201
119

At 31 March 2020

3

1,317

1,320

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

30

466

497

At 31 March 2019

31

383

415

Property, plant and vehicles of the Group amounting to £32.4m (2019: £29.5m) are pledged as security against bank borrowings.
Land and buildings of the Group and Society were valued on an open market basis at 31 October 1994. The Group elected to
adopt the transitional rules of FRS 102 for its revalued assets and consequently these valuations have not been updated.

2020
Group
£'000
Historical cost of
Freehold land and buildings

6,707

Society
£'000
-

2019
Group
£'000
6,707

Society
£'000
-
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12.

Investments

Shares in subsidiary
undertakings
£'000

Investment in Joint
Ventures
£'000

Total
£'000

40,446

2,420

42,866

2,870
(637)

(2,420)

2,870
(3,057)

42,679

-

42,679

7,976

1,594

9,570

-

(1,594)

(1,594)

At 31 March 2020

7,976

-

7,976

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

34,703

-

34,703

At 31 March 2019

32,470

826

33,296

Society
Cost
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2020
Impairments
At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals

Details of the subsidiary undertakings in the Group at 31 March 2020 are as follows:

Registered Office Address

Proportion of ordinary
shares held

Scottish Milk Products Limited

Glasgow Airport Business Park, 9 Marchburn Drive, Paisley, PA3 2SJ

100%

The First Milk Cheese Company Limited

The Lake District Creamery, Station Road, Aspatria, Wigton, Cumbria, CA7 2AR

100%

Kingdom Dairy Company Ltd

Glasgow Airport Business Park, 9 Marchburn Drive, Paisley, PA3 2SJ

100%

Fast Forward FFW Limited

The Lake District Creamery, Station Road, Aspatria, Wigton, Cumbria, CA7 2AR

100%

First Milk Energy Limited

Glasgow Airport Business Park, 9 Marchburn Drive, Paisley, PA3 2SJ

100%

th

On 30 June 2019, First Milk purchased Fonterra’s 51% share of Fast Forward FFW Limited and became the sole owner of the
whey protein concentrate manufacturing facilities based at its Lake District Creamery.
During the year to 31 March 2020, First Milk acquired the remaining 50% share of First Milk Energy Limited. The investment in
First Milk Energy Limited is £nil (2019: £nil).
During the year to 31 March 2020, First Milk struck off Scottish Milk Dairies Limited, since this company was dormant and was no
longer required by the Group. The investment removed for Scottish Milk Dairies was £119k.
During the year to 31 March 2020, First Milk struck off Kingdom Cheese Company Limited, KCSUBCO 1 Limited and Kingdom 99
since the companies were dormant and no longer required by the Group. The investment removed for these companies was
£518k.
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Investments (continued)

All subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are incorporated in the UK. The directors consider the value of investments to be
supported by their underlying assets.

Fast Forward FFW
Limited
2020
£'000

Fast Forward FFW
Limted
2019
£'000

Total assets
Total liabilities

-

5,508
(2,506)

Net Assets

-

3,002

Society share of net assets (49%)

-

1,471

Turnover
Profit

3,993
934

10,128
1,100

Share of turnover in the year (49%)
Society share of profit in the year (49%)

1,957
458

4,963
539

Group

13.

Acquisition

On 30 June 2019, First Milk purchased Fonterra’s 51% share of Fast Forward FFW Limited and became the sole owner of the
whey protein concentrate manufacturing facilities based at its Lake District Creamery. The cash consideration paid was £2,044k.
As summary of the assets and liabilities acquired is provided below, there were no differences between the book value and the fair
value of the assets and liabilities acquired.

£'000
Tangible fixed assets
Trade debtors
Prepayments
VAT
Deferred tax asset
Cash at bank and in hand
Trade creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Corporation tax

1,968
2,501
43
3
28
1,229
(804)
(570)
(391)
4,007

Since acquisition date, Fast Forward FFW Limited has generated turnover of £5,621k and profit of £44k.
The directors are electing to invoke the true and fair override in relation to the calculation of goodwill on this acquisition. This is to
avoid the creation of negative goodwill which would be created were the guidance in FRS 102 applied. The override involves
performing a goodwill calculation at each separate stage of the FFW acquisition (i.e. at the date 49% of FFW was acquired and
then at the date the remaining 51% was acquired) as opposed to only once at 30 June 2019 (which the standard stipulates).
Negative goodwill would be created if the standard was applied which would appear inconsistent with the actual transactions which
took place. At both acquisition dates the group acquired their share of Fast Forward FFW Limited’s assets at their fair value
therefore on that basis there should be no goodwill created.
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14.

Inventories

2020
Group
£'000
Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods and goods for resale

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2,961
47,269

158
-

3,639
46,821

-

50,230

158

50,460

-

Inventory is valued on the basis of standard cost, adjusted for price and production cost variances.
Inventory is pledged as security for bank borrowings.
The amount of inventory recognised as an expense during the year was £195,281k (2019: £191,494k) for the Group and
£237,551k (2019: £225,146k) for the Society.

15.

Trade and other receivables

2020
Group
£'000
Due w ithin one year:
Trade receivables
Amounts ow ed by subsidiary undertakings
Amounts ow ed by joint ventures
Other receivables
Value added tax
Corporation tax
Prepayments and accrued income
Due after one year:
Deferred tax (note 20)

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

22,905
381
416
234
566

10,636
62,300
808
226
339
470

27,839
1
503
367
909

9,680
22,324
99
164
76
730

434

348

1,390

1,390

24,936

75,127

31,008

34,463

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.
16.

Trade and other payables: amounts falling due within one year

Amounts due to debt providers (note 18)
Trade payables: amounts due to members
Trade payables: other
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Other taxes and social security
Other payables
Accruals and deferred income

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

33,181
16,530
5,171
482
215
10,499

44,195
16,530
4,704
83
430
53
5,439

1,200
14,072
8,663
278
198
8,200

14,072
5,303
263
278
119
5,152

66,078

71,434

32,612

25,187

Trade payables: amounts due to members represents purchases of milk at the prevailing monthly price, which are payable
according to standard terms of trade. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair
value. There are no fixed repayment dates for amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings.
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Trade and other payables: amounts falling due after more than one year

2020
Group
£'000
Amounts due to debt providers (note 18)
Deferred income

18.
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Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

142

-

40,181
459

1,346
-

142

-

40,640

1,346

Borrowings

Amounts due to debt providers are repayable as follows:

Within one year
Due in more than one year
Unamortised issue costs

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

33,427
(246)

44,195
-

1,200
40,712
(531)

1,346
-

33,181

44,195

41,381

1,346

Society
£'000

All borrowings are shown as due within one year since as at 31st March 2020 the final repayment date of the facilities was 31
January 2021. In April 2020 the facilities were amended and extended to 31 July 2024.

st

Borrowings at 31 March 2020 of £33,427k (2019: £41,912k) are secured by fixed securities over certain Group assets, a floating
charge over Scottish Milk Products Limited and a debenture over First Milk Limited and The First Milk Cheese Company Limited.
These facilities are subject to financial covenants.
Borrowings of £44,195k at 31 March 2020 (2019: £1,346k), are shown in the Society since this debt amount was drawn down by
the Society and not First Milk Cheese Company. This debt is offset by an increase in amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
from First Milk Cheese Company (note 15). Post year-end £40,000k debt was repaid by First Milk Cheese Company.
The directors consider that the carrying amount of bank borrowings approximates to their fair value.
An analysis of the changes in net debt during the year is presented below:

2020
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

Opening balance at 1 April 2019
(Decrease) / increase in bank borrowing
Movement in unamortised issue costs

41,381
(8,485)
285

1,346
42,849
-

Closing balance at 31 March 2020

33,181

44,195
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Financial instruments

The Group has the following financial instruments:

Note

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Trade receivables
Amounts owed by joint ventures
Other receivables

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Amounts due to debt providers
Trade payables: amounts due to members
Trade payables: other
Other trade payables
Accruals

15
15
15

16, 18
16
16
16
16

2020
Group
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

-

-

22,905
381

27,839
1
503

23,286

28,343

33,181
16,530
5,171
215
10,499

41,381
14,072
8,663
198
8,200

65,596

72,514

Derivative financial instruments – forward contracts
The Group has previously entered into forward foreign currency contracts to mitigate the exchange rate risk for certain foreign
currency receivables. No such contracts were outstanding as at 31 March 2020 or 2019.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred tax asset
The movement on the deferred tax asset account for both the Group and the Society is shown below. The asset is presented
within debtors (note 15).

2020
Group
£'000
Opening balance
Profit and loss account charge (note 9)
Deferred tax charge in OCI for the period
Balance on acquisition of Fast Forward FFW Ltd
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Effect of changes in tax rates
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - income statement
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - OCI
Closing balance (note 15)

Deferred tax (assets) not recognised at the closing rate of 19%
(2019: 17%)
Fixed assets
Timing differences - trading
Losses

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

(1,390)
622
420
(28)
(21)
(7)
(30)
-

(1,390)
622
420
-

(1,673)
581
(298)
-

(1,662)
262
10
309
(309)

(434)

(348)

(1,390)

(1,390)

2020
Group
£'000
Deferred tax (assets) recognised
Recoverable within 12 months

Society
£'000

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

(434)

(348)

(1,390)

(1,390)

(434)

(348)

(1,390)

(1,390)

(2,350)
(19)
(5,767)

(480)
(159)
(3,309)

(1,277)
15
(6,766)

(403)
(56)
(3,149)

(8,136)

(3,948)

(8,028)

(3,609)

Except in relation to pensions (balances shown as recoverable after 12 months above) no deferred tax assets have been
recognised due to the uncertainty of the timing of the recoverability of these amounts.
Finance Bill 2016 had previously enacted provisions to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020 and
accordingly the deferred tax at 31 March 2019 had been calculated at this rate. However, in the March 2020 Budget it was
announced that the reduction will not occur and the Corporation Tax Rate will be held at 19%. The Provisional Collection of Taxes
Act was used to substantively enact the revised 19% tax rate on 17 March 2020 and accordingly the deferred tax balances have
been re-calculated to 19% at the year ended 31 March 2020.
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21.

Financial commitments

The Group and Society had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the
following periods:

2020
Group
£'000
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases not provided in the
financial statements:
within one year
within two to five years
later than five years

22.

Society
£'000

2019
Group
£'000

Society
£'000

234
148
20

154
91
-

295
478
20

203
347
-

402

245

793

550

Share and loan capital

Share capital (Group and Society)

Ordinary shares of
£5 each
No. '000
£'000

Ordinary shares of
£10 each
No. '000
£'000

New Preference shares C' Preference shares of
of £1 each
£1 each
No. '000
£'000
No. '000
£'000

Total
£'000

Called up, allotted and fully paid
At 1 April 2018

1

2

1

5

6,984

6,984

68,517

68,517

75,508

Shares issued

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,356

1,356

1,356

Share cancellations

-

-

-

(1)

(730)

(730)

-

-

(731)

At 1 April 2019

1

2

1

4

6,254

6,254

69,873

69,873

76,133

Shares issued

-

-

-

-

-

-

721

721

721

Share cancellations

-

-

-

-

(371)

(371)

-

-

(371)

At 31 March 2020

1

2

1

4

5,883

5,883

70,594

70,594

76,483

First Milk Limited is a Society established under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. It is governed by its
rules that require all members, on joining, to purchase a £10 ordinary share (previously a £5 ordinary share). Each member shall
be bound but only entitled to hold one ordinary share. The £5 Ordinary shares and £10 Ordinary shares rank pari passu. When a
member leaves, their ordinary share is cancelled.
Each member has a capital target (currently seven pence per litre) based on annual volume supplied averaged over the three years
to 31 March 2018. Members can reach their capital target through monthly contributions, lump sum investment or by buying capital
from former members. Monthly contributions and lump sum investments are paid to loan capital accounts that are then converted
immediately to C Preference shares. Most members also hold New Preference Shares that were allocated as bonus shares in
2013 on the basis of capital held at that time.
Members and former members have certain rights to trade capital. In particular, former members are entitled to sell their New
Preference shares for a period of three years at which point, if not sold, they are cancelled. Shareholders now have access to a
new web platform, Asset Match, to encourage share trading.
The Board introduced a members’ premium from April 2019, paid annually to members. This payment, made in April 2020, was
0.25ppl for all litres consigned in the year to March 31 2020 for someone that is fully invested in the business (100% of capital
target), with the payment being pro-rata adjusted based on achievement of the members’ capital target. Members are allowed to
hold up to 200% of their target therefore a maximum pay out of 0.5ppl was possible. The member premium will increase to 0.5ppl
from April 2020, with payment due to members in April 2021.
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Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

2020
Group
£'000
Operating profit
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Pension shortfall correction
Subsidiaries struck-off
Lloyds ruling GMP equalisation charge through exceptional costs
Decrease / (increase) in inventories
Decrease / (increase) in receivables
(Decrease) / increase in payables
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities

6,842
4,401
52
(3,906)
230
7,897
(465)
15,051

Society
£'000
1,960
119
(3,906)
875
(158)
(41,706)
2,083
(40,733)

2019
Group
£'000
5,017
5,850
104
(3,127)
934
212
(1,588)
451
7,853

Society
£'000
3,403
118
(3,127)
934
(4,841)
2,763
(750)
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24.

Pension schemes

First Milk Limited operates the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan (“the Scottish Plan”), and also participates in The Milk
Pension Fund (“the Milk Fund”), an industry scheme in which all participating employers report only their share of assets, liabilities
and obligations while legally holding joint and several liability for the scheme as a whole. Both schemes are closed to accrual of
benefits.
In the event of participating employers ceasing to participate in the Milk Fund, the assets and liabilities previously associated with
this employer are allocated to the remaining employers.
Both are defined benefit pension schemes funded by sponsoring employers and (up to the date of closure to future accrual) by
contributions from employees.
The Scottish Plan is structured such that the Society and other participating Group companies cannot separately identify their share
of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. As a consequence the deficit of this scheme was previously only reflected in
the Group financial statements. Under FRS102 rules there is a requirement to estimate the share of the deficit for each
participating employer, and since the majority of the liabilities of this scheme relate to First Milk Limited, the decision was made to
allocate 100% of the deficit to the Society.
In May 2019, following finalisation of the triennial valuation of 2018, a revised pattern of contributions was agreed by the Trustees
and First Milk. Shortfall-correction contributions of at least £1.6m per annum, increasing annually by RPI, from 1 June 2019 to 31
May 2029 inclusive will be paid.
In addition to the shortfall-correction contributions the trustees and First Milk also agreed an arrangement whereby additional
contributions will be paid to the plan contingent on the performance in 2 areas:



Relative Milk Price
Profit Sharing

In the year to 31 March 2020, total contributions of £2.7m (2019: £1.9m), including contingent contributions relating to 2019
performance were paid to the Scottish Milk Limited Retirement Benefits Plan.
The Milk Pension Fund
The Schedule of Contributions agreed following the 31 March 2018 actuarial valuation of the Milk Fund, requires minimum annual
contributions of £1.2m (increasing by 3.4% per annum) to be paid to the fund. In the year to 31 March 2020, total contributions of
£1.2m (2019: £1.2m) were paid to the Milk Pension Fund.
The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme, a Stakeholder Group Pension Plan with Standard Life. The contributions
to the defined contribution scheme charged to the profit and loss account in the year ended 31 March 2020 were £0.8m (2019:
£0.7m).
The figures below for the defined benefits schemes have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations at 31 March 2018,
updated to the current year-end by qualified independent actuaries. It should be noted that the net deficit in the Scottish Scheme
and the net surplus in the Milk Fund as at 31 March 2020 were somewhat better than expected due to the temporary increase in
credit spreads caused by market uncertainty stemming from Covid-19. The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuation
were:

Assumptions at 31 March

Scottish Plan
% pa
2020

2019

Milk Fund
% pa
2020

2019

Discount rate

2.4

2.4

2.5

2.5

Rate of increase in pensions in payment

2.2

2.8

1.8 to 2.2

1.8 to 2.2

Rate of increase in pensions in deferment

2.2

2.3

2.2

2.2

Inflation assumption (RPI)

2.7

3.4

2.6

3.3

Inflation assumption (CPI)

2.2

2.3

1.9

2.2

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners
Men
Women

23
25

22
25

23
25

22
25

Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners
Men
Women

24
26

24
26

24
26

24
26

Mortality
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Pension schemes (continued)

The fair value of assets in the schemes and the present value of liabilities in the schemes at each balance sheet date were:

Assets
Equities, diversified growth and
hedge funds

Scottish Plan
£'000
2020

2019

Milk Fund
£'000
2020

2019

2,172

2,816

17,700

18,200

52,282

45,646

18,800

17,700

Bonds

-

-

12,300

13,600

Direct lending

-

-

2,300

-

Index-linked Gilts

-

-

1,100

-

Property

-

-

5,600

6,100

Unrecognised asset

-

-

(2,300)

(600)

1,918

2,114

600

4,300

56,372

50,576

56,100

59,300

Gilts/LDI funds

Cash

Liabilities

Scottish Plan
£'000
2020

Opening
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Settlements
Past service costs
Actuarial gains / (losses)

(58,754)
(1,383)
2,254

Closing

2019

Milk Fund
£'000
2020

2019

(322)

(58,684)
(1,491)
2,655
(434)
(800)

(59,300)
(1,500)
2,500
2,200

(47,500)
(1,300)
2,200
700
(500)
(12,900)

(58,205)

(58,754)

(56,100)

(59,300)
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24.

Pension schemes (continued)

Scottish Plan
£'000
2020
Total market value of assets
Present value of scheme liabilities
Deficit in the scheme
Related deferred tax asset
Net pension liability

2019

56,372

50,576

56,100

59,300

(58,205)

(58,754)

(56,100)

(59,300)

(1,833)

(8,178)

-

-

348

1,390

-

-

(1,485)

(6,788)

-

-

Scottish Plan
£'000
2020

Assets

2019

Milk Fund
£'000
2020

2019

Milk Fund
£'000
2020

2019

Opening
Expected return on scheme assets
Actuarial (losses)/gains
Benefits paid
Change in effect of the asset ceiling
Employer contributions
Settlements

50,576
848
4,526
(2,254)
2,674
-

48,907
936
1,451
(2,655)
1,937
-

59,300
1,300
(1,500)
(2,500)
(1,700)
1,200
-

47,500
1,100
11,400
(2,200)
900
1,200
(600)

Closing

56,370

50,576

56,100

59,300

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statements of other comprehensive income (“SOCI”) are:

Opening cumulative SOCI:
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Closing cumulative SOCI

2020
Scottish Plan
£'000

Milk Fund
£'000

2019
Scottish Plan
£'000

(15,771)

(14,441)

(16,422)

(13,851)

(16,667)

(14,100)

(1,130)

4,206

651

(590)

245

249

(16,901)

(10,235)

(15,771)

(14,441)

(16,422)

(13,851)

Milk Fund
£'000

2018
Scottish Plan
£'000

Milk Fund
£'000
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Pension schemes (continued)

Analysis of movement in the scheme deficit during the year:

2020

2019

Scottish
Plan
£'000

Milk
Fund
£'000

Scottish
Plan
£'000

Milk
Fund
£'000

Past service cost

-

-

(434)

(500)

Total included within operating surplus

-

-

(434)

(500)

2,674

1,230

1,937

1,190

848
(1,383)
-

1,300
(1,500)
100

936
(1,491)
-

1,100
(1,300)
100

(535)

(100)

(555)

(100)

4,528
8%

(1,130)
-2%

1,451
3%

11,400
19%

0%

0%

1,009
2%

(11,990)
20%

(322)
0%

0%

(1,809)
0%

0%

4,206

(1,130)

651

(590)

(8,178)

-

(9,777)

-

2,674
(535)
4,206

1,230
(100)
(1,130)

1,937
(555)
(434)
651

1,190
(100)
(500)
(590)

(1,833)

-

(8,178)

-

Contributions
Amounts included as other finance income:
Expected return on pension scheme assets
Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities
Gains on curtailments and settlements
Net finance (cost)/income
Analysis of the actuarial gains and losses in the
statement of comprehensive income:
Actual return less expected return on
pension scheme assets
Amount
Percentage of scheme assets
Experience gains and losses arising on the
scheme liabilities
Amount
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities
Changes in financial assumptions underlying
the scheme liabilities
Amount
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities
Total actuarial gains and (losses)
recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income
Deficit at 1 April 2019
Movement in year:
Employer contributions
Third party contribution
Net finance cost (note 8)
Past service cost
Actuarial gain/(loss)
Deficit at 31 March 2020
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25.

Related party transactions

During the year, the directors supplied raw milk from their farms to the Group and the Society at normal commercial rates totalling
£3,218k (2019: £2,737k). The outstanding balance owing to the directors at 31 March 2020 was £300k (2019: £287k).
During the year the Group made payments to its two related pension funds of £3.9m (2019: £3.1m). For a breakdown of these
amounts between the pension funds see note 24.
During the year to 30th June 2019, the Company supplied Fast Forward FFW Limited (a joint venture between First Milk Limited
and Fonterra (Europe) Coöperatie U.A.) with liquid whey of £1.5m (2019: £5.6m) and manufacturing services of £0.9m (2019:
th
£5.6m). On 30 June 2019, First Milk purchased 51% of the share capital of Fast Forward FFW Limited from Fonterra (Europe)
Coöperatie U.A. FFW Fast Forward Ltd ceased being a joint venture from that date.
Amounts due to members at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 for the purchase of milk are disclosed in note 16.

26.

Capital and other financial commitments

2020
Group
£'000
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not provided in the financial statements

27.

982

Post balance sheet events

On 6 April 2020, First Milk renewed long-term debt arrangements with Wells Fargo Capital Finance (UK) Limited.
On 15 April 2020, First Milk disposed of the site of the former creamery at Campbeltown.
On 30 April 2020, First Milk purchased the entire share capital of Lake District Biogas Limited.
In April 2020, the first member premium payments were paid to members.

2019
Group
£'000
-

